Foreign Policy at BROOKINGS



Ten Years of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization:

A Lost Decade? A Partner for the U.S.?

Julie Boland

FEDERAL EXECUTIVE FELLOW

21st CENTURY DEFENSE INITIATIVE POLICY PAPER 20 June 2011

All statements of fact, opinion, or analysis expressed are those of the author and do not reflect positions or views of the U.S. Government or any U.S. Government agency. Nothing in the contents should be construed as asserting or implying U.S. Government authentication of information or endorsement of the author's views. This material has been reviewed to prevent the disclosure of classified information.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	6
PART I: SCO AT 10: EVOLVING SLOWLY, BUT SURELY	8
CHAPTER ONE: INCREMENTAL ACHIEVEMENTS	10
A. Security Activities Dominate	11
B. Economic Focus Rising	14
C. Soft-Power Attention Distributed	16
CHAPTER TWO: CONSTANT CHALLENGES	17
A. Stability? Or Noninterference?	17
B. Divergent National Goals and Bilateral Tensions	18
C. A Work in Progress=Weak, Ineffective?	19
CHAPTER THREE: SURVIVING DESPITE THE STRESSES	
A. Participants See Value	20
B. Rise of Regionalism Helps	23
PART II: US-SCO PARTNERSHIP: CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES	26
CHAPTER FOUR: WASHINGTON CAUTIOUS THUS FAR	26
A. Bush Administration Burned	26
B. Obama Administration Open	27
CHAPTER FIVE: SHOULD THE U.S. AIM FOR MORE?	29
CHAPTER SIX: WHAT'S AT STAKE FOR WASHINGTON	32
A. A Rising China	
B. A "Reset" Russia	
C. Unstable Regimes	
CHAPTER SEVEN: RISKS EXIST FOR THE U.S.	36
A. Unintentially Endorsing Repressive Regimes	
B. Subject to Rejection and Fickleness	
C. No Seat at the Big Table	
CHAPTER EIGHT: STRATEGIES FOR A FUTURE U.SSCO RELATIONSHIP	40
A. Active Opposition	

B. Benign Neglect	40
C. Positive Partnership	41
•	
CHAPTER NINE: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FORWARD PROGRESS	43
A. Department of State	43
B. Department of Defense	
C. National Security Council	
·	
CONCLUSION	49

Abstract:

The Shanghai Cooperation Organization's June 2011 head of state summit in Astana, Kazakhstan, will mark the tenth anniversary of the founding of the SCO. The SCO is comprised of China, Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan as full members, with India, Iran, Mongolia, and Pakistan as official observers. Afghanistan participates in some activities through the SCO-Afghanistan Contact Group, and Belarus and Sri Lanka were recently approved as the organization's first dialogue partners.

This milestone is an opportune time to examine the SCO's development over the last decade and where it appears to be headed. Key questions this paper considers are: Has the past decade been a "lost" one for the SCO, or has it made any progress as an effective organization? And, are there reasons why the U.S. might consider the opportunities—and risks—of enhanced engagement with the organization? This review lays out potential steps the U.S. could take to move such a relationship forward if it chooses to do so.

A "Lost" Decade? Some commentators have wondered "What happened to the SCO?" But in ten years of existence, and only the last six with a functioning secretariat and counterterrorism group, the SCO has developed its organizational structure, expanded its formal ties with other states and multilateral institutions, and taken concrete, albeit incremental, actions to try to broaden and cement its economic, political, and security-related impact and influence. On the security front, it has conducted multilateral security exercises, developed its counterterrorism and counter narcotics coordination efforts, and set forward a cyber security architecture. The SCO approved an extensive program of multilateral trade and economic cooperation in 2003 and established an Interbank Association in 2005 and a Business Council in 2006, along with fresh impetus to create a SCO Development Fund to help move the program forward. The SCO is focusing on transportation and infrastructure improvements to facilitate economic cooperation, and China has granted billions of dollars worth of loan credits for members under the SCO umbrella. The group has branched out to other areas of regional cooperation, too, such as planning for a disaster relief center and, since 2005, providing election observers to members' contests. The SCO faces constant challenges as it moves forward – divergent member goals, bilateral tensions within its ranks, and regional instability that brings into question its policy of noninterference – but it appears on track to survive for the near term. This survival likely will be aided by the rising acceptance of regionalism as part of the solution to global challenges, along with renewed Chinese and Russian interest in utilizing the group and other countries interested in establishing or deepening their relationship with it.

U.S.-SCO? The SCO's central focus on combatting the "three evils" of terrorism, separatism, and extremism, its geostrategic siting where the U.S. has been fighting two wars for the last several years, and its inclusion of countries with which this administration has sought to reset relations, suggest there may be opportunities for cooperation between Washington and the SCO. Washington has had a cautious and inconsistent approach to the SCO, with a nadir in relations around 2005 when the U.S. was viewed as promoting regime change in the region and the SCO was seen as partly responsible for the closing of a U.S. airbase in Uzbekistan supporting Coalition efforts in Afghanistan. The Obama Administration, however, has called for more regional input into and burden sharing for complex problems such as Afghanistan, and agreed to U.S. participation at a SCO-sponsored international conference on Afghanistan in 2009. In pursuing enhanced engagement with the SCO, the U.S. risks unintentionally being seen as legitimizing these mostly authoritarian states, being rejected outright by the SCO members, and being sidelined.

Strategies for the Future. Official membership status in the SCO probably is neither preferred nor attainable for Washington, given each party's lingering suspicions of the other's long-term intentions. The U.S. thus is left with a spectrum of possibilities to consider for its relationship with the SCO. The U.S. could adopt a position of active opposition to or benign neglect toward the SCO, or move toward more active partnership. While the U.S. has bilateral relationships with each of the SCO's participants (albeit distant in the case of Iran), Washington would need to consider whether this approach is sufficient for the complex challenges in the region. If the decision is made to enhance engagement with the SCO, several bureaucratic and policy steps could be taken within the administration, including cross-bureau and multiagency coordination arrangements and specific action plans with tangible goals and deliverables, to facilitate a positive and productive relationship in a region where U.S. interests look to endure.

Introduction:

The U.S. military officers surveyed the foreign troops advancing with them toward the simulated terrorist stronghold. On the U.S.'s right were Russian special operations forces, with a few Central Asian personnel alongside, and to their left were their Chinese counterparts. Seeing the variety of foreign equipment in action at the joint security exercise was amazing and hearing the cacophony of languages over the communications lines was a bit jarring, but most striking of all to the U.S. officers was the patch on everyone's arm—the Shanghai Cooperation Organization emblem.





Far-fetched? Perhaps not. The United States and the Shanghai Cooperation Organization (SCO) have common concerns in the region, including instability, counterterrorism, and counter narcotics. The SCO also includes several countries that Washington likely fears could be the setting for future security hot spots. Washington's persistent entanglement in Afghanistan further cements an interest in the SCO, which includes an Afghanistan Contact Group and guest attendance by President Hamid Karzai at SCO heads of state meetings. Furthermore, the SCO operates in the Eurasian region, where the U.S. finds itself heavily involved, yet geographically distant. And finally, all of the SCO countries, except China, have signed Partnership for Peace (PfP) framework documents with NATO and the Central Asian SCO members are past participants in PfP defense training and exercises, indications that the potential security benefits of cooperation already are recognized.

But perhaps no other regional organization is less consistently or objectively studied than the SCO. Foreign policy commentators have had varying takes on this organization and whether it is something the U.S. should care about or ignore, with the majority of the interest and research centered on the China-Russia relationship within the SCO and on the group's security exercises. The basic facts about the organization are so laxly tracked that even prominent authors mistakenly include all five Central Asian states as official members (Turkmenistan, however, only attends meetings as an invited guest) or upgrade Afghanistan to an official observer state (again, as of now it is just a guest) in their best selling books.¹ Even the New York Times, in a January 2011 article on Chinese inroads into Central Asia, gave an incorrect date for the establishment of the SCO's precursor organization, the Shanghai Five (taking almost

three weeks to correct its "editing error" from the originally posted "1966" to the correct "1996").²

Extreme views on the nature of this organization often accompany the lack of accuracy by many commentators. Some describe the SCO as a paper tiger while others suspiciously eye it as a counterweight to NATO.³ At the SCO's five-year mark, a few authors questioned whether it was a nascent military alliance. In reality, however, the SCO's direction and activities suggest it has evolved into something more in the middle of these positions in response to the changing global landscape over the last decade.

The SCO's June 2011 summit will mark the tenth anniversary of the founding of the SCO. This milestone is a crucial time to examine the SCO's development over the last decade and where it appears to be headed. The key questions of this paper are: Has the past decade been a lost one for the SCO, or has it made any progress as an effective organization? And, given uncertainties about a rising China, a reset Russia, and unstable regimes in the Eurasian region, are there reasons why the U.S. might consider the opportunities—and risks—of enhanced engagement with the SCO, a group which encompasses all of these challenges? This paper lays out potential next steps the U.S. could take to move a U.S.-SCO relationship forward if Washington chooses to do so.

Part I: SCO at 10-Evolving Slowly, But Surely

Some commentators have wondered "What happened to the SCO?," perhaps expecting a new version of the Warsaw Pact to evolve. But in ten years of existence, the SCO has taken an alternative path and developed its organizational structure, expanded its formal ties with other states and multilateral institutions, and taken concrete, albeit incremental, actions to try to establish its economic, political, and security-related impact and influence in Eurasia. The SCO, at least formally, has emphasized action based on consensus and derived from national interests vice bloc behavior compelled from a central authority.

The SCO is comprised of China, Russia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan as full members, with India, Iran, Mongolia, and Pakistan as official observers. Afghanistan participates in some activities through the SCO-Afghanistan Contact Group, and Belarus and Sri Lanka were recently approved as the organization's first dialogue partners. The organization evolved out of the original Shanghai Five (China, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, and Tajikistan), which concluded agreements between 1996 and 2001 to deepen military trust, reduce military forces in border regions, and define China's borders with these nations after the collapse of the Soviet Union.⁵ In June 2001, the Shanghai Five welcomed Uzbekistan into the group, even though it did not share a border with China, and institutionalized their relationship officially as the Shanghai Cooperation Organization.

The driving philosophy for the SCO is the so-called "Shanghai spirit," which emphasizes harmony, working via consensus, respect for other cultures, noninterference in others' internal affairs, and nonalignment. The SCO's common focus is working cooperatively against the "three evils" of terrorism, separatism, and extremism. The SCO's *Convention on Combating Terrorism, Separatism, and Extremism*, signed in 2001, defined these terms and highlighted in particular how these specific 'isms' use violence or intimidation against people or governments in an attempt to change behavior, borders, or regimes.⁶⁷ China's foreign ministry has described the SCO as a successful example of Beijing's "new security concept," a late 1990's initiative to promote security through dialogue and multilateral cooperation and to encourage mutual benefit and trust.⁸

The SCO's basic bureaucratic structure consists of two standing bodies: the Secretariat based in Beijing and overseen by a Secretary General who serves a three-year term, and the Regional Anti Terror Structure (RATS) with a staff based in Tashkent. Senior-level councils of heads of state, heads of government, foreign ministers, and defense ministers meet throughout the year in preparation for the annual heads of state

summit, which is hosted on a rotating basis among member states. The Secretariat and ministerial-level officials compile an agenda and deliverables to which all member states can agree, since the SCO operates on a consensus basis. Such summits, like similar leadership meetings around the world, are somewhat of a rote event, scripted in advance. But they also provide host nations with an opportunity to showcase their country and, more interestingly, have become the setting for newsworthy moments. For example, at the June 2009 summit, leaders of two SCO observer states, India and Pakistan, met on the sidelines in their first face-to-face meeting since the terrorist attack on Mumbai the previous November, which allegedly involved Pakistani support. The SCO's regional forum gave Prime Minister Manmohan Singh and President Asif Ali Zardari a neutral setting where they were not the main event, giving them space to address the emotionally-charged issue as part of the preliminary process of resuming dialogue with each other.

Chapter One: Incremental Achievements

Beyond the SCO's original structure and mission, the organization's evolution has come to include a broadened range of substantive topics, with representatives from all member states and sometimes observers and guests that meet regularly. Most commentators highlight the SCO's security focus, but the SCO also devotes attention to economic issues, including promoting its Business Council and an Interbank Association, as well as a SCO Forum of academic advisors, and joint councils on topics such as agriculture, education, health, culture, judiciaries, and legislatures.

The SCO also has moved beyond its own structure and substantive efforts to expand the group's formal ties with other nations and other multilateral groups. In 2004, the SCO created the official status of observer and brought Mongolia into its fold. India, Iran, and Pakistan joined as SCO observers the following year. In 2005, the organization created a SCO-Afghanistan Contact Group, recognizing the near- and long-term importance of stability in Afghanistan to the SCO region, and probably an effort to balance the ongoing American and Coalition military presence in Afghanistan. President Hamid Karzai has attended subsequent SCO heads of state summits as a guest and according to Russian press from March 2011, Moscow now supports giving Afghanistan observer status in the group. In addition to the categories of members and observers, the SCO in 2008 established regulations on dialogue partners and accepted Belarus and Sri Lanka as its inaugural dialogue partners in 2009.

The SCO has reached out to not only other countries, but also to other multilateral organizations. The UN granted it observer status to the General Assembly in 2004, and then signed a Joint Declaration on Cooperation between the UN and SCO Secretariats in 2010. The SCO concluded a Memorandum of Understanding with the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) and the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) in 2005, with the Eurasian Economic Community (EurAsEC) in 2006, and with the Russia-dominated Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO) in 2007. The SCO continues to develop links with the European Union (EU) and the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE). For example, it attends EU and OSCE forums, particularly on Central Asian security issues. 13

The SCO has moved forward, albeit unevenly, on some concrete areas of activity as well, such as security cooperation (including security exercises, counterterrorism, counter narcotics, and cyber security), economic cooperation, emergency assistance, and election monitoring. When assessing the SCO's accomplishments, however, it is important to note that although the organization itself was established in 2001, the Secretariat and the counterterrorist arm, the RATS, has only been functioning since 2004

and other issue-based SCO groups are even more recent.¹⁴ In its five year anniversary declaration in 2006, the SCO highlighted accomplishments in bureaucratic, security, economic, and international outreach areas; its ten year anniversary declaration will likely expand upon those achievements.¹⁵

A. Security Activities Dominate.

The SCO's security exercises attract the most public attention of any of its activities, largely because of the media coverage (particularly by China's official news outlets, and clips posted on YouTube¹⁶), the powerful participants involved (at least China and/or Russia typically are involved in each exercise), and the scope of effort (it's not unusual to have thousands of troops reportedly participating). These exercises' breadth, regularity, and focus illustrate the SCO's evolution as an organization.

The SCO has, as a group or with only a portion of the members, held security exercises since 2002.¹⁷ The Central Asian SCO states normally send far fewer troops and personnel than do China and Russia. Uzbekistan at times has sent only officers to observe the proceedings or has opted out of several of the exercises. Some of the activities have been labeled "Anti-terror" exercises specifically, while others, usually larger and involving more countries, have been named "Peace Mission" exercises. All depict joint efforts at disrupting and defeating simulated "three evils" behavior, such as killing or capturing hostage takers and rescuing hostages, storming buildings and surrounding villages, or forcing down hijacked airliners.

Members benefits from the successful conduct of these exercises as their military and security services practice tactics and weapons handling, but also gain useful experience working with other countries on planning, command and control, logistics, and maneuvers. The SCO members achieve other messaging objectives through these exercises. The first large-scale China-Russia war games, called Peace Mission-2005, reportedly included up to 10,000 personnel, and featured activities based in both countries such as robust amphibious landings on the Yellow Sea coast, long-range bombers flights, and submarine involvement. These were not what many considered to be typical counterterrorist operations, suggesting to some a Chinese message of strength directed as much at Taiwan as at extremist elements within the SCO states. Peace Mission-2007, held for the first time concurrently with the SCO's annual heads of state summit, furthered the mingling of political objectives with the security aspects of these exercises. President Vladimir Putin used the occasion to announce Russia's resumption of long-range heavy bomber flights, which had ceased after the Soviet Union's collapse, widely seen as a move to demonstrate Russia's resurgent great power focus.18

The SCO has successfully broadened the focus of these exercises,. In 2008, the SCO expanded its exercise cooperation to include corporate partners and held the

Volgograd Anti-terror-2008 exercise at a Lukoil commercial refinery port, with a scenario aimed at neutralizing terrorists who had seized an oil tanker and its crew. 19 The group also focused on unconventional targets with the Vostok Anti-terror-2006 exercise, which included repelling a simulated attack on Uzbekistan's Institute of Nuclear Physics and its nuclear reactor, 20 as well as in the Norak Anti-terror-2009 exercise, which reportedly included simulated defense of a chemical factory in Tajikistan under terrorist threat. 2122 Peace Mission-2010, hosted by Kazakhstan, also represented several advancements for the SCO's conduct of security exercises. Chinese bombers in the exercise flew cross-border training missions for the first time, according to the deputy Chinese commander on the scene, 23 and night-time maneuvers were integrated for the first time into a joint SCO exercise. 24

While the security exercises are a prime focus for the organization, its efforts to be regarded as a regional power on Afghanistan-related security issues, such as counterterrorism and counter narcotics, has gained ground in the last few years. In March 2009, Moscow hosted a SCO-sponsored conference on Afghanistan, attended by U.S. Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Patrick Moon (reportedly the first participation in a SCO event by a U.S. government official). Other participants included Iranian Deputy Foreign Minister Mohammad Mehdi Akhonzadeh, U.N. Secretary General Ban Ki-Moon, OSCE Secretary General Mark Perrin de Brichambaut, and NATO Assistant Secretary General for Operations Martin Howard, plus representatives from the G8, the EU and the Organization of the Islamic Conference. The unanimously adopted declaration from the conference gave some legitimacy to the SCO when it stated that "The participants also noted that the SCO was one of the appropriate forums for a wide dialogue with participation of partners on the Afghanistan-related issues, in the context of joint efforts of the international community and Afghanistan, and for practical interaction between Afghanistan and its neighboring states in combating terrorism, drug trafficking, and organized crime."25 The broad attendance likely was encouraging to the SCO especially because its conference took place only four days before another Afghanistan-related conference, sponsored by the U.S. under the auspices of the U.N. at The Hague. A SCO-Afghanistan Action Plan was produced by the conference, which called for joint operations to combat terrorism, drug trafficking, and organized crime, involving relevant Afghan bodies to take part in joint law-enforcement exercises by the SCO, as well as measures to improve drug agency training and border controls.²⁶ A successful raid in late October 2010 by Russian, U.S., and Afghan forces against drug labs in Afghanistan may be evidence of forward momentum on this action plan.²⁷

After security exercises and a focus specifically on Afghanistan, the RATS, the SCO's counterterrorist arm, has moved to achieve broader counterterrorism objectives, too. It reportedly has advised several nations' on operational training, helped draft international legal documents to combat terrorism, and compiled a database of suspected or known terrorists and extremists for SCO member use.²⁸ According to a

February 2011 interview with RATS Executive Committee Director Dzhenisbek Dzhumanbekov, the group participated in drafting the action plan on the implementation of the U.N. Global Counter-Terrorism Strategy in Central Asia²⁹ and has plans to strengthen counterterrorism cooperation with ASEAN.³⁰ The group claims to have been responsible for successful criminal interdictions, arrests, and advance warnings to other SCO states.³¹ The RATS has reportedly assisted with security during the Beijing Olympics in 2008,³² the 2010 World Expo, and the 2011 Asian Winter Games.³³

The SCO has made progress on counter narcotics issues as well, to complement its Afghanistan-focused efforts. The RATS signed a Protocol of Cooperation with the Central Asian Regional Information and Coordination Center (CARICC) on September 27th, 2010 to combat drug trafficking, trans-border drug crime, and subsequent terrorist related financing. The CARICC is a joint drug control effort established in 2006 between Russia, Central Asian nations, and the U.N. Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC).³⁴ SCO members, as part of the action plan from the SCO-sponsored conference on Afghanistan in 2009, agreed to consider establishing a regional anti-drug training center ³⁵ – moving forward on an idea originally proposed by Tajikistan officials to be based in Dushanbe.³⁶ Officials from the SCO states' counter drug agencies meet regularly to discuss the status and prospects of joint efforts against trafficking and to build five-year anti-drug strategy programs.³⁷ Victor P. Ivanov, Director of the Russian Federal Narcotics Control Service, described a three-tier mechanism within the SCO (including expert, departmental, and leadership level meetings) that began in 2009 under Russian auspices, which has allowed for the exchange of information and decisions on cooperation.³⁸

The SCO has also been on the forefront to manage the Internet's impact on governments, specifically to counter its use for what it calls "information terrorism." In 2009, the SCO approved a Russian-proposed cyber agreement, which defined "information war" as an effort by one state to undermine another state's political, economic, and social systems.³⁹ According to press reporting, U.S. officials suspect the SCO's accord might be used as a template by other governments wanting to more broadly control Internet content deemed "aggression" through an agreement brokered via the U.N.'s International Telecommunications Union.⁴⁰

The SCO is sometimes negatively judged based on whether it has evolved into a military counterweight to NATO, perhaps because it has certain similar bureaucratic attributes, including a signed charter, a permanent secretariat, issue-based centers based in regional partners' capitals, and annual summits. But it has important differences: specifically, not being limited to security issues and not being bound by Article 5-type mutual defense guarantees. Because of this, evaluations of the SCO should not be based solely on comparisons to NATO.⁴¹

B. Economic Focus Rising.

Traditional hard power security is being joined by economic security as a priority for the SCO, with concrete initiatives underway. The SCO established in 2003 a program of multilateral trade and economic cooperation that encompassed over 120 projects, including energy and transportation cooperation. To facilitate progress on these projects, the SCO has worked to create an organizational structure to link businesses and banks. The SCO's Business Council, founded in June 2006, has a Secretariat based in Moscow and is run by a Chairman, Deputy Chairman, and Board consisting of member state representatives. According to its website, the Business Council's key functions are to facilitate cooperation in trade, credit, financial, scientific, engineering, transport, telecommunications, agricultural and other spheres, to implement projects in different sectors of the economy in members' territory, and to assist in finding funding for and making recommendations towards improving economic cooperation between SCO countries.

The SCO's website also notes several specific areas where the Business Council has cooperated on regional tasks. At a SCO Business Council meeting in 2009, Leonid Moiseyev, the Russian President's Special Representative to the SCO, stated that the SCO believes there cannot be stability in the region without economic security, which is why the organization has emphasized economic cooperation and development.⁴³ China's Business Council representative at the same meeting also described initial steps that China had taken under the SCO auspices to foster economic cooperation, including organizing trips of small and medium business owners to increase familiarity with and interest in China's agricultural sector.⁴⁴

The SCO's Business Council also contributes to the soft power aspect of the organization's efforts to improve basic living and business conditions in the SCO region. One such initiative, for example, is the promotion of a small-scale health project involving SCO states' public health ministries, medical personnel, and pharmaceutical companies, which was launched in 2007.⁴⁵ The project—a "health train" to help jointly deliver high-tech medical assistance to remote areas in the region—required cooperation between SCO states' rail and health ministries and helped tens of thousands of people in 2008 and 2009, according to the Council.⁴⁶⁴⁷ SCO participant states are planning to expand the program.⁴⁸ SCO member states, particularly China and Russia, probably view such soft power outreach as useful to try to mitigate other countries' fears of economic or security domination by Beijing and Moscow.

The SCO's Interbank Association (IBA), sometimes referred to as the Interbank Consortium, established in 2005, also is an ongoing effort to strengthen cooperation between the major banks of the SCO nations, helping to implement investment projects that are bilateral or multilateral.⁴⁹ By 2006, the IBA had agreed to credit and fund joint investment projects worth about \$742 million.⁵⁰ In 2009, the head of the IBA told an

economic gathering in St. Petersburg about some of the group's projects and accomplishments. Among these, he listed strengthened interbank cooperation, improved relationships with the Eurasian Development Bank, loan agreements between Russian and Kazakhstani banks, and initiating an international infrastructure fund reportedly joined by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and elements of the World Bank.⁵¹

One sign of the SCO's achievements in the economic field is how member states find it useful as an umbrella under which they can initiate and deepen economic ties with one another. For example, Kyrgyzstan's northwestern Talas province in February 2011 announced plans to sign a memorandum of economic partnership with Russia's Altai province under the SCO's umbrella.⁵² And in 2009, the SCO's umbrella was used to initiate joint economic cooperation amidst the global financial crisis,⁵³ with the first meeting of SCO finance ministers and heads of central banks held in Kazakhstan that December.⁵⁴ China, though, has by far used this umbrella the most. Beijing used the setting of the 2009 heads of state summit to announce a \$10 billion credit line for SCO members to help them "counter the shock of the international financial crisis." 55 Chinese officials indicated that the loan would focus on large transportation and energy projects as well as smaller business projects that would go through the Business Council and the Interbank Association.⁵⁶ This is not the first time China used the SCO to hand out loans to SCO states. In 2004, China pledged \$900 million worth of preferential export buyers' credit to other SCO members.⁵⁷ And by 2007, the Chinese government had pledged an additional \$1.2 billion worth of credits for SCO members.⁵⁸

In addition to enhanced regional finance and trade, the group has recognized the importance of improving transport corridors in the area as a necessary and positive evolution of its economic cooperation. In 2006, the SCO selected two pilot projects to jumpstart cooperation on infrastructure in the region. Uzbekistan is the SCO coordinator for one of the projects: simultaneous construction of roads connecting the cities of Volgograd-Astrakhan-Atyrau-Baineu-Kungard and roads linking Aktau-Baineu-Kungard, with the completed construction of a bridge over the Kigach River in 2007. China is the SCO coordinator for another project: development of a transport route between the cities of Osh-Sarygash-Irkeshtam-Kashgar, with the construction of a transshipment terminal in Kashgar. The SCO continues to work with the Asian Development Bank and the UN's Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP) to prepare and implement a regional transport agreement to promote transit, trade, and tourism, illustrating the group's ability to reach out as a unit, albeit slowly, for expert assistance in managing stakeholder concerns and objectives.

Economic cooperation is important for the SCO to show concrete benefits to participants from the organization. The National Intelligence Council and EU Institute of Security Studies' <u>Global Governance 2025</u> report, published last year, noted that

business has often been the pioneer in establishing links within regional groups, even in the face of political tensions. The report stated that business efforts build trust and provide incentives for cooperation, although the benefits sometimes are unevenly distributed within a region.⁶² As the SCO has evolved in its conduct of security activities, so has its economic focus, making the group a more comprehensive regional actor.

C. Soft Power Attention Distributed.

The SCO's security and economic efforts have been joined by organizational attention to the soft power side of regional cooperation. For the SCO, initial activities have been narrowly focused such as to include health care initiatives like the health train to remote areas mentioned previously. Disaster relief is another soft power area of cooperation in the SCO likely seen as important for legitimizing the group in the broader public view and essential for creating better regional economic and security conditions to forestall social unrest. In 2010, the SCO provided relief assistance to Pakistan after severe floods there, 63 and the SCO provided a detailed accounting in its end-of-year chronicle of specifically how each SCO participant aided China with monetary aid, relief supplies, or loaned medical personnel after the devastating Sichuan province earthquake in 2008.64 The SCO has held joint emergency department ministerial meetings since 2002 and in 2005 signed an agreement on mutual aid to members during a disaster. In the following years, the SCO has approved annual action plans, which lay out a framework for providing assistance in emergency communications, information, and training. Actions since then have focused on emergency relief in border areas and on establishing a disaster relief center, which Kazakhstan has requested be headquartered in Astana. 6566

Since Kyrgyzstan's parliamentary elections in 2005, the SCO has also focused its soft power effort on providing election observers to monitor contests in participant states. The SCO's group of election monitors might seem to be counter to its avowed stance of noninterference in other states' internal affairs, but it likely was intended as an additional legitimizing factor for the organization and for member states' ruling authorities. There are several international and regional election monitoring organizations currently in existence, and their differing compositions and political philosophies often result in contradicting proclamations about the same election process.⁶⁷ The OSCE and the SCO monitoring missions have at times not agreed on whether specific elections were indeed "free and fair," for instance.⁶⁸

Chapter Two: Constant Challenges

Even as these incremental achievements have occurred, establishing broad networks between governments and officials on a wide range of important issues create important challenges to the SCO. There is an inherent tension between SCO states' desire for regional stability and the organization's mandate for noninterference in other nations' domestic affairs. The members also have to manage divergent national goals and bilateral tensions that threaten the group's goal of consensus-based actions. And the SCO is still slowly developing its bureaucratic structures and mechanisms for cooperation. Indeed, maintaining progress on joint activities in any multi-actor realm may be a more challenging hurdle than the initial decision to work together. The end result can appear to external observers as weak and ineffective, exacerbated by the lengthy time necessary for each member to consider, ratify, and sign SCO agreements. Some analysts have already declared the SCO to be irrelevant after only a decade.⁶⁹

A. Stability? Or Noninterference?

The SCO walks a thin line between its promotion of regional stability and its stated rejection of interference in other's internal affairs. One example of this balancing act occurred when Russia invaded Georgia in August 2008, while dozens of world leaders were in Beijing for the Olympic Games' opening ceremonies. Russia's subsequent recognition of the independence of breakaway regions South Ossetia and Abkhazia from Georgia drew unfavorable comparison with secessionist struggles in other SCO member states' regions such as Xinjiang for China. As a result, the SCO did not come out with unequivocal support for Russia's actions. At the SCO heads of state summit less than a month after Russia's actions, the group's final declaration included statements of support for Russia's efforts at "promoting peace and cooperation," but also regretted the "use of armed force to resolve problems."

Unrest in SCO member state Kyrgyzstan in April 2010 resulted in violence and eventually a change in the government, which has also been touted as an example of where the SCO was ineffectual in response to a regional crisis. The SCO issued statements of concern about the events, expressed condolences to victims, and urged "peace, security, and political stability." The SCO Secretary General Muratbek Imanaliev, a Kyrgyz national, visited the country to meet with the provisional government members, eventually securing assistance to Kyrgyzstan on a bilateral basis from SCO states. The SCO's policy of noninterference apparently won the day in this case because of a hesitation to set a precedent and intercede in internal unrest. The SCO acted similarly in 2005, during a period of previous governmental change in Kyrgyzstan.⁷² SCO members will need to periodically reassess whether this tension

between stability and noninterference is sufficiently balanced to maintain organizational legitimacy and states' needs.

B. Divergent National Goals and Bilateral Tensions.

The competing regional objectives of Moscow and Beijing are also an oft-used rationale for declaring the SCO an ineffective group.⁷³ The thinking here is that Russia views Central Asia as squarely within its sphere of influence and that Chinese economic inroads and the corresponding influence it brings in the region will be met with resistance from Moscow. Noted regional expert Bobo Lo, for example, describes China and Russia's relationship as an "axis of convenience" that manifests itself in Central Asia.⁷⁴ He believes that as the SCO has expanded its participants and its agenda, divisions between China and Russia over the SCO's future and role have become apparent. According to Lo, Russia is more interested in promoting the security aspects of the SCO, whereas China prefers emphasis on economic issues. He acknowledges, though, that these differences have been managed well overall so far.

Multilateral groups as a rule encompass cross purposes and lingering disagreements over important issues between members. Even well-established organizations such as the European Union struggle with this, as evident in its contentious consideration of Turkey's membership. Such situations do not doom organizations to complete ineffectiveness. The challenges of integrating divergent objectives of two power players like China and Russia are undeniable, but actions such as continued security exercise cooperation and senior-level statements in support of the SCO suggest that the issue is being managed by both parties, for national interests (the SCO is useful for each country's maintenance of their influence in the region) as well as outward appearances (no one wants to be associated with an obviously unsuccessful group).

In SCO Central Asian states, conflicts over regional hydropower arrangements are emblematic of lingering bilateral tensions that threaten consensus behavior. In one of the more recent disagreements over water rights among SCO members, Tashkent opposed Dushanbe's and Bishkek's plans to construct hydropower stations on regional rivers because of fears that Uzbekistan's downstream agricultural industry would be disadvantaged. Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan, however, asserted that their countries' severe power shortages required them to act to develop the hydropower resources. Uzbekistan held up hundreds of freight cars at its border, bound for Tajikistan, and closed key border checkpoints in apparent retaliation, according to Dushanbe officials. On the sidelines of the 2010 SCO heads of state summit, Uzbekistan agreed to begin releasing some trains to Tajikistan as long as they were not headed to the hydropower project. Tajikistan, for its part, agreed to an "unbiased international" study of the proposed dam's environmental impact, but a final agreement on this issue is still to be

decided. This demonstrates the enduring challenge of these kinds of issues and the opportunity to help manage them through regional engagement.⁷⁷

The SCO has encouraged joint projects on hydropower to help move these issues forward, such as the joint venture between Kazakhstan and China under SCO joint financing auspices for the Moinak hydropower station in Kazakhstan, expected to be completed in December 2011.⁷⁸ Energy issues, however, involve each country's national security and sovereignty interests and as such are slow to be resolved with the necessary compromises.

C. A Work in Progress=Weak, Ineffective?

The SCO still is faced with structural and bureaucratic challenges, especially as it expands and creates additional business areas and works to fully implement its initiatives, leaving it open to charges of being a talk shop. Funding appears to be a particular challenge for the SCO. At a heads of government meeting in late November 2010, Kazakhstani Prime Minister Karim Massimov stated that the launch of the SCO's Development Fund, approved in 2009, needed to be accelerated to facilitate implementation of the group's economic projects. ⁷⁹ In addition, at a 2009 gathering, officials of the SCO Business Council noted that they still needed to work out an "efficient mechanism of interaction" between the Business Council and the SCO Interbank Association, and tabled proposals to achieve better and more continuous attention to economic investment and development.⁸⁰

Energy is another area where progress has been confined. The Russian proposal in 2006 for the creation of an Energy Club within the SCO caught international attention as the beginning of a potential cartel-like group. This, though, appears to be a casualty of the divergence of interests between SCO members who are energy producers, such as Russia, and those whose energy needs are growing, such as China. The individual nations have been shown to prefer to keep national control over their production, supply, and consumption mechanisms and agreements. Evidence of this direction came in 2009, when the Russian President's Special Representative to the SCO, Leonid Moiseyev, stated at a Business Council meeting that the group now believed that a SCO Energy Club should not be an "over-organized" structure, but rather a more informal discussion forum to exchange ideas on energy cooperation in the region. This approach of lowering expectations about a club's scope still holds sway given SCO statements in 2011 that it is continuing efforts to satisfy both energy producers and consumers in the organization as it works to form the club.

Chapter Three: Surviving Despite the Stresses

The SCO, still quite young as an organization, appears on track to survive for the near-term. Despite stresses in the group, participants appear to see potential benefits from association, with many lobbying for enhanced status and roles. The trend of regionalism worldwide further suggests a positive outlook for the SCO's continued existence. Thus, the last decade does not appear to have been a completely lost decade for this organization, but instead a predictably challenging and slowly evolving time period of building, outreach, and incremental steps forward.

Writing about their observations of other regional organizations' development, regional academics Johannes Linn and Oksana Pidufala summarized several challenges facing groups operating in Central Asia, including the SCO.⁸⁴ These include:

- Difficulty and time it takes to develop and achieve even gradual improvements
- Necessity for sacrifices by national leaders for the good of the region
- Membership interests that diverge
- Deleterious effects of multiple organizations operating in the region without collaboration
- Requirement for ample and steady financial resources to implement group objectives
- Difficulty reaching out to external actors and organizations for assistance
- Need for synchronization of transportation and trade investment with development of policies
- •Myriad hurdles to finding solutions to energy resource sharing, particularly with water supplies

These hurdles may yet become insurmountable obstacles for the SCO, but as Linn and Pidufala point out, the organization has only very recently emphasized an economic focus. Thus, expectations for quick progress are unrealistic. Steps, such as a Chinese proposal in 2010 to supply \$8 billion of the Development Fund's suggested \$10 billion price tag,⁸⁵ are being taken to follow up on financing projects with an emphasis on funding transit proposals across the region. The SCO still is stymied by resource squabbles, however, and it is not readily apparent what sacrifices have been made so far by SCO leaders on behalf of regional cooperation.

A. Participants See Value.

Ultimately, the SCO is likely to survive if its participants perceive individual benefits from their association with the group. Regional expert Bobo Lo has observed

that there are enough common interests, specifically regime stability, counterterrorism, and trade, for the SCO to survive. Ref But, while common interests and presumed common benefits may be important, they are not sufficient to spur individual members of groups to move forward on collective action, according to noted economist Mancur Olson's theory of groups and public goods. Ref Olson assessed that there must also be incentives for the individual (beyond the common benefit) or that individual must be somehow compelled to act.

For China and Russia, as the major players in the organization, incentives to pursue collective action include their investments of their separate reputations in the SCO's success, in addition to each one's desire to deepen (China) or retain (Russia) influence in the region, committing them to the group for, in Lo's words, "strategic convenience." The SCO's Central Asian members, Lo notes (but Olson presumably would agree), sign on to the SCO's collective action because each gains influence through the group's consensus operating style and are able to maximize their individual influence through playing China and Russia off of one another.⁸⁸

The SCO observer nations—India, Iran, Mongolia, and Pakistan—see political, economic, and security benefits from working with the group as well. Although together, and on their own, they present challenges to the organization's consensus operating style because of their many disputes with each other or SCO members. This year, India has reportedly joined Iran and Pakistan in applying to become a full member of the SCO. In a change from its original participation, it has even sent its most senior officials to attend recent summits. 899091 Of the regional organizations in Central Asia, such as the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), Eurasian Economic Community (EurasEC), U.N. Special Programme for the Economies of Central Asia (SPECA), Central Asian Regional Cooperation Organization (CAREC), and the Eurasian Economic Organization (ECO), only SCO includes Indian participation, representing a unique opportunity for Delhi to engage.92

Mongolia, though, seems content remaining as an observer, a status in line with its foreign policy of remaining neutral while seeking out "Third Neighbors" to balance its two powerful border countries—China and Russia. ⁹³ But Mongolia too has looked to gain concrete benefits from this association. In 2010, it negotiated with the SCO to have the group sponsor a "health train," which provides medical aid and services to underserved populations, to come to Mongolia as part of the increased cooperation between the organization and its observers. ⁹⁴

Prime Minister Yousuf Raza Gilani has noted Pakistan's interest in helping promote the SCO's economic agenda and plans for regional development. ⁹⁵ But the group does not appear to be inclined to accept either Iran or Pakistan as official members anytime soon, given Tehran's intransigent behavior on its nuclear program and Islamabad's precarious stability. At the 2009 SCO heads of state summit, the

organization published long-anticipated guidance on accepting new members. Among other criteria, the SCO declared that new members must not be under UN Security Council sanctions, a blow to Iran's application. Still, both Iran and Pakistan reaffirmed their desire to become official members during the November 2010 heads of government council meeting in Dushanbe, suggesting the new regulations have not completely blunted these states' aspirations nor solved the SCO's challenge of accommodating them.

In earlier years, the SCO kept observers at a distance from the workings of the member states; they were invited to attend meetings, but not much else. The observers soon expressed frustration with their minimal inclusion. SCO members no doubt understand that they must enhance the observers' experiences with the group enough to keep them interested and to encourage their sending senior-level attendees to meetings, thereby attesting to the SCO's legitimacy and effectiveness. SCO officials also are taking steps to further the inclusion of observers in the regular plans and activities of the member states. The SCO Business Council annual meeting in early 2010 took place for the first time in an observer nation, Mongolia. In 2009, the Russian President's Special Representative to the SCO stated that it would be desirable to include observers in any forum to discuss energy cooperation in the region, and the Interbank Association stated that it had created opportunities for observer nations' banks to become involved in the work of the group.

Aware of other nations' interest in the SCO, but probably mindful of the potential trouble from additional formal membership expansion, in 2008 the group created a new type of association, "dialogue partner," for others interested in working with the group. The SCO, in adopting this new category, echoed another regional grouping, ASEAN, which also created a dialogue partner category several years after its founding. 101102 Belarus and Sri Lanka became the first SCO dialogue partners at the 2009 heads of state summit. The SCO's regulations indicate that dialogue partners can participate in meetings of the group with an aim toward promoting cooperation on specific issues, and with advance permission, even use the SCO's website to publish their own statements about such cooperation. The regulations clearly state, however, that dialogue partners are not involved in the preparation, decision-making, and signing authority for the group. Partners are limited to an "advisory" vote on cooperation in specified areas of dialogue. 103

Before becoming dialogue partners, Belarus and Sri Lanka petitioned for some kind of association with the SCO, probably viewing it as an opportunity to derive benefits from the larger, more powerful member states. Belarus officials stated in 2010 that its partnership memorandum signed with the SCO included areas of cooperation such as counterterrorism, economic, and transportation, focused on ways to tackle common concerns, and aimed at creating specific joint projects in the future. In a statement after signing the memorandum, officials emphasized that Belarus was the

first European nation to achieve official participation in the SCO. Terrorism and regional security were cited by Sri Lankan officials as specific interests for cooperation with the SCO, noting that the country in May 2009 defeated the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), a U.S.-designated Foreign Terrorist Organization, but still was active battling its remnants.

Afghanistan perceives a benefit from being part of the SCO as well, and has asked this year for an upgrade of its status within the SCO from its Contact Group role to being an official observer to the organization, according to the Russian foreign minister. ¹⁰⁴ It is unclear whether the SCO members will accede to Afghanistan's request or, given its likely turbulent near future and the SCO's aversion to instability, will put it in the dialogue partner category as somewhat of a holding position.

B. Rise of Regionalism Helps.

Also sustaining the SCO's continued existence and possible influence is the trend of regionalism globally. The National Intelligence Council's 2010 report on global governance devotes an entire annex to the role of regionalism around the world. This section judges that regional cooperation is likely to make further strides because of the dissatisfaction with current global governance institutions, the shifting of relative power at the regional level with major powers willing to invest in the groups, and because the global financial crisis has made nations more aware of their interdependence and need for regional solutions to transnational challenges.¹⁰⁵

In Asia, this trend of multilateralism coexists within a web of bilateral relationships and a variety of functional and diplomatic groupings, such as the Six-Party Talks on North Korea. Other regions are experiencing a similar trend, with South America launching a new organization—the Union of South American Nations (UNASUR)—in 2008, in addition to the Southern Common Market (MERCOSUR) group, according to the NIC study. In Africa, the African Union (AU) has been complemented by sub-regional organizations like the South African Development Community, to meet the challenge of a large continent with uneven capacities and many fragile states. The European Union (EU), of course, stands as the most accomplished of these groups, but it is still coping with many integration challenges as it expands its membership. The NIC's report notes that progress toward closer cooperation on the regional level has occurred over the last decade, but also outlines challenges such as poor governance and disparate economic policies as hurdles to creating effective organizations.

A look at some of these regional groups around their ten-year mark suggests the period is generally a time of mixed results, echoing the SCO's current status. For MERCOSUR, the first phase of success in the group coincided with agreements on tariffs and common micro- and macroeconomic interests, while the remaining years

leading up to its decade anniversary were marked by divergent economic and foreign policies and a more complex and conflict-prone agenda for the organization. The AU, according to one analysis of its activities, has led forcefully for regional integration, but has suffered over the last several years from a lack of consistent political support from its members and economic assistance from its donor community. The ASEAN's own website describes the group's first several years as slow, a pace intended to promote trust and goodwill, with important developments such as a peace declaration and the first summit coming several years after the organization's establishment. The AU, according to the AU, according to the AU, according to one analysis of its activities, has led forcefully for regional integration, but has suffered over the last several years as slow, a pace intended to promote trust and goodwill, with important developments such as a peace declaration and the

Therefore, the SCO's uneven track record does not appear to be unusual in its developmental pace relative to other regional groupings. In 2007, the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI) looked at regional security organizations in the former Soviet area, including the SCO, to assess their effectiveness.¹⁰⁹

SIPRI judged that such an organization was legitimate and had potential for success if it:

- Avoided hegemonic or coerced cooperation
- Did not promote a zero-sum relationship to the outside world
- Was not rigid or static
- Was not artificial or superficial
- Was efficient in its management and resource use

Using these criteria, the authors judged that the SCO:

- Could not be described as hegemonic given the group's consensus approach to decision making
- Had actively sought partnership with other international groups and thus was not zero-sum in its thinking
- In its evolution demonstrated it was not following a rigid path

The authors of the SIPRI study noted, however, that the SCO needed to move beyond pronouncements to concrete action and funding. SIPRI's criteria and assessment still appear valid in 2011, although movement forward on joint projects continues to be slower than most SCO members would prefer.

The SIPRI's criteria for legitimacy in this region, dominated by larger powers Russia and China, is important as a way to judge the ability of the smaller countries to play an appropriate role in the organization and as a tool to assess the group's adaptation to the globalized and interconnected, economic and security environment of today. These criteria are valid and also reasonable, given the realistic purview of such groups. No regional organization will replace bilateral relationships that countries utilize, nor fully resolve long-standing tensions between discordant neighbors. Not

even the most accomplished of regional organizations, the EU, has superseded state-to-state relations or completely aligned central and western European nations' economic and security priorities. Thus, while the SCO might be able to do more to mitigate conflicts between members, its stated policy of noninterference suggests that it will use mostly diplomatic methods to influence actions within the group. And for this collection of countries, such methods probably are the limit of persuasive power if the group wants to keep all of its members.

Part II: US-SCO Partnership, Challenges and Opportunities

Chapter Four: Washington Cautious Thus Far

Washington has made some tentative overtures to the SCO over the last decade, but consistent engagement has not occurred. Although the U.S. and the SCO have shared common concerns about instability and extremism in the region, the two actors have not always shared the same approaches, leading to uncertainty about and suspicion of each other's objectives.

A. Bush Administration Burned.

The SCO was established just a few months before September 11th. U.S. efforts to pursue the 9/11 instigators and facilitators led Washington to expand its diplomatic, economic, and military activities in the region surrounding Afghanistan, including in SCO member states individually. For example, Uzbekistan allowed the U.S. to establish the Karshi-Khanabad (K2) airbase that October to serve as a refueling and transit point for U.S. and Coalition troops in and out of Afghanistan. Assistant Secretary of State for European and Eurasian Affairs, Beth Jones, after a trip to the region in February 2002, stated that Russian officials had briefed U.S. officials on the SCO's activities and that the U.S. encouraged regional cooperation to improve the overall situation and expressed a strong desire to coordinate their respective activities in the region to ensure complementarity and avoid duplication. 111

Answering questions from a U.S. House of Representatives committee in 2004, Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for European and Eurasian Affairs B. Lynn Pascoe told the members that "in fact, we have, from the first, offered to take up even an observer's status at some point with the organization to work" with the SCO, underscoring Washington's desire to see regional cooperation, especially against terrorism, succeed.¹¹²

Despite Washington's apparent openness to cooperation with the SCO, the lingering U.S. military presence in the region exacerbated fears of U.S. sponsored regime change, especially after the so-called "color revolutions" that upended

governments in Georgia (Rose Revolution, 2003), Ukraine (Orange Revolution, 2004), and Kyrgyzstan (Tulip Revolution, March 2005). Autocratic leaders in the SCO were undoubtedly worried they could be next in line. 113 At its summit in July 2005, the SCO issued a declaration calling for the U.S. to set a withdrawal timeline for its forces in the region. Uzbekistan decided later that year to evict the U.S. from K2, a result of Tashkent's unhappiness with perceived U.S. criticism about its harsh crackdown on public unrest at Andijon in May, but linked in many people's mind to the SCO's earlier call for a withdrawal deadline. 114 By November 2005, the last U.S. plane had departed K2. 115

The K2 incident likely soured the Bush Administration on relations with the SCO, however, the need for coordination of effort on critical issues in the region continued. In 2006, former Assistant Secretary of State Jones publicly noted that the SCO "should by all means" develop counterterrorism and counter narcotics programs, but asked "since resources are not endless, why not take a few minutes to coordinate among the various organizations to assure complementarity of effort and not duplication? The fact that the U.S. is not a member of the SCO does not diminish the value of the organization—provided it is doing real work and not just hosting summit meetings."¹¹⁶

Given Uzbekistan's ouster of U.S. forces in 2005, questions arose about the status of the Coalition's air base in Manas, Kyrgyzstan. U.S. lease payments and fuel contracts for Manas have been at the center of Kyrgyzstani political and public disputes over corruption and benefits. A few months after the SCO's declaration in 2005, Kyrgyzstan demanded higher compensation for use of Manas and in 2006 reached agreement with the U.S. for an increase from \$2 million a year to over \$17 million for a five-year lease.¹¹⁷

According to some press reporting and academic writings, the Bush Administration requested in 2005 some form of membership in the SCO, but was rejected. ¹¹⁸Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Richard Boucher, in testimony before the Helsinki Commission in September 2006, however, stated that the U.S. had not sought membership in the SCO. ¹¹⁹ Thus, by 2007 at least, suspicion and uncertainty about the SCO's objectives, especially concerning the continued presence of U.S. and Coalition troops in the region, appear to have undermined the potential for cooperation and Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Evan Feigenbaum publicly stated that the U.S. did not "seek to become a member or observer" of the SCO. ¹²⁰

B. Obama Administration Open.

The saga of the Manas base, now called a transit center, and its impact on Kyrgyzstani politics continued even after the Obama Administration took over in 2009.¹²¹ In June 2009, the U.S. increased the rent it paid to Bishkek to \$60 million per

year after Kyrgyzstan made threats in February 2009 to end the basing arrangement, according to the New York Times. ¹²² Some commentators judged that the crackdowns by President Kurmanbek Bakiev's regime in reaction to domestic criticism about his handling of the Manas contracts contributed to the April 2010 uprising and overthrow of his government. ¹²³ The controversy continued as the Kyrgyzstani government urged the U.S. in November 2010 to cancel its contract with the fuel supplier, which was under investigation in Kyrgyzstan (although the U.S. Congress did not find evidence of corruption during its investigation of the company). ¹²⁴ The annual lease agreement for Manas is set to conclude in July 2011, making close engagement with Kyrgyzstan — and interested parties such as Russia and China — a priority for Washington. Future U.S.-SCO engagement could help facilitate transparency on the longstanding issue of access to Manas.

The Obama Administration has adopted a policy of outreach to regional partners and in 2009 sent Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Patrick Moon to attend a SCO Special Conference on Afghanistan in Moscow in March. The SCO's forum attracted international attendance, including the Iranian deputy foreign minister. The conference resulted in a SCO-Afghanistan Action Plan, which called for joint operations against terrorism, drug trafficking, organized crime, and security collaboration with Afghanistan. Presidents Obama and Medvedev welcomed the U.S. participation at the conference in a joint statement after their meeting the following month and then raised its "particular importance" in a joint statement in July 2009. 126127 In January 2010, Secretary of State Clinton, in remarks on Asian regional architecture in Hawaii, stated that "we've also seen new organizations, including the ASEAN Regional Forum, ASEAN+3, the Shanghai Cooperation Organization; we hope that we will be able to participate actively in many of those," 128 raising the possibility of future U.S.-SCO engagement.

Most recently, Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Robert Blake met with SCO officials in mid-March and hoped to get their "perception of the situation in Central Asia and how the SCO as an organization, but also individual members, are working to address some of the challenges the region faces." ¹²⁹ No word yet publicly on how those discussions turned out, but the U.S. obviously is in position to reassess its engagement with the SCO.

Chapter Five: Should the U.S. Aim for More?

Some experts have advised against the U.S. rushing in to cooperate with the SCO, saying it instead should wait for tangible achievements from the group. ¹³⁰ Depending on the criteria one uses, of course, a case can be made that the organization already has accomplished bureaucratic, security, networking, and political goals, as discussed throughout this paper. SCO members appear to have recommitted to the organization within the last couple of years, probably to maneuver for gain in response to increased global economic uncertainty and security concerns and to take advantage of the U.S. desire to seek regional burden sharing. Rather than rushing in, the U.S. seems to have bided its time.

The current U.S. administration has emphasized cooperation and partnership with regional organizations. Should the U.S. take a chance to change its relationship with the SCO, an organization some have suggested is set up specifically to provide an alternative to Western norms and values in international relations?¹³¹ Might the United States gain from enhanced efforts to engage with regional organizations like the SCO? Focused attention on regional fora has been promoted by some foreign policy experts as a necessary part of revitalizing the global security system. The NIC study on global governance notes the challenges and sometimes lackluster results to date of regional organizations and posits that renewed interest in such groups could create momentum and enhance their effectiveness, complementary to bilateral and larger multilateral global governance arrangements.

For a precedent on furthering engagement with the SCO, the U.S. could look at European-based organizations that continue to demonstrate interest in cooperating with the group. European interest in the SCO is not surprising. In 2006, German Foreign Minister Frank-Walter Steinmeier stated that there were three strategic interests for Europe in Central Asia: Central Asia's location near unstable countries such as Afghanistan, Iran, and Pakistan; the regional battle against Islamic extremism; and the region's importance in energy resources. These issues now not only include Central Asia, but also SCO members China and Russia.

Since the SCO's founding, the European-focused OSCE and the SCO have been involved in exchanges and collaborated on workshops on topics such as counterterrorism, conflict prevention, and democratic elections. The OSCE includes all of the SCO member states as participants, except for China, and in the OSCE's 2001 Bucharest Plan of Action the group recognized the need to broaden dialogue with regional organizations, including the SCO, which are outside the traditional OSCE area. As one example of these two worlds growing closer, the most recent outgoing

SCO Secretary General, Bolat Nurgaliyev, followed up his three-year SCO stint by serving as the OSCE's Special Representative of the OSCE Chairperson for Protracted Conflicts under Kazakhstan's chairmanship, where he would have been well-positioned to share insights about fostering effective dialogue between the two organizations.¹³⁵

Along with the OSCE's attention, the EU formally adopted a Central Asian strategy in 2007, and revisited its implementation most recently in a progress report in June 2010. The EU's strategy document declared that it was prepared to enter into "an open and constructive dialogue" and to have "regular ad hoc contacts" with regional groups, including the SCO. The report also stated that the EU would aim specifically to strengthen its cooperation with the SCO on drug trafficking. Pierre Morel, the EU's Special Representative to Central Asia in 2008, publicly described the SCO as "a work in progress" and stated that the EU was not looking for an MOU with the group, but instead a dialogue for concrete cooperation. 138

Following along Europe's path, some commentators have pressed for NATO to reach out more to the SCO. Hudson Institute senior fellow Richard Weitz suggested in March that NATO could grant China more formal ties and make the SCO a "global partner," in exchange for greater access to the SCO and its activities. He argued that cooperation in areas such as disaster relief, counterterrorism, and counter narcotics would be mutually beneficial to both organizations and would help NATO and SCO countries avoid great power competition in Central Asia. ¹³⁹ In 2009, former U.S. National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski encouraged NATO (via Washington) to reach out to both the CSTO and the SCO, suggesting expanded cooperation could lead to a joint NATO-SCO council which the U.S. could use to indirectly engage the participant states. He did, though, acknowledge that fashioning such a relationship would not be easy or quick. ¹⁴⁰ All of the SCO countries except China have signed Partnership for Peace framework documents with NATO, an indication that the potential security benefits of cooperation already is recognized. ¹⁴¹

The confluence of interests between NATO and SCO—including stability in the region and countering extremism and narcotics flows—highlights potential areas where these two groups could begin cooperation. The United States and Russia have the ability to guide these respective groups toward mutual discussion and possible action in areas of common concern. Even if there were not identical objectives, enhanced transparency and awareness of each other's agendas would be another step to move relations forward. Although some have proposed that NATO work with the CSTO on common concerns, working only with them and not the SCO leaves out an increasingly important player in this region—China. NATO's new Strategic Concept, agreed to at Lisbon in November 2010, includes as one of three core tasks a commitment to cooperative security. Specifically, the Strategic Concept states that NATO will "engage actively" through partnership with "other international organizations," and asserts that Euro-Atlantic security is "best assured through a wide network of partner relationships

with countries and organizations around the globe." It goes on to state that NATO is prepared to "develop political dialogue and practical cooperation" with nations and organizations interested in peaceful international relations. Although the document does not mention SCO specifically, it notes NATO's desire to see a "true strategic partnership" with Russia, potentially opening the way for organizational dialogue and interaction. 143

Washington's hesitancy to increase engagement with the SCO, based on the unsavory nature of some of its participants, might be somewhat assuaged after being reminded of the ASEAN Regional Forum (ARF), where the U.S., Russia, and China participate in dialogue on both political and security issues of common concern along with non-democratic members such as Burma and North Korea. 144145 In fact, on the ARF's ten-year anniversary, it listed one of its achievements as being a useful venue for bilateral and multilateral dialogue, gradually building mutual confidence via cooperation and dialogue, promoting transparency and developing a network of security-focused participants. 146 While some regional experts have questioned the ARF's effectiveness in preventive diplomacy, such as in quieting North and South Korean tensions, others have suggested that the ARF's realistic utility may lie more with confidence building or humanitarian cooperation among participants. 147 Given similar organizational values between ASEAN and the SCO (such as operating via consensus, the importance of sovereignty and noninterference), the U.S. would be well advised to temper expectations that engagement with the SCO would result in immediate or far-reaching results on integral security questions. However, staying outside these venues represents opportunity costs for the U.S. such as opportunities to engage, build trust, and demonstrate interest and respect for regional issues and players that lay the foundation for working together on the more difficult problems.

Patrick deGategno of the Atlantic Council, writing in November 2010, observed that hardly a week goes by without a senior Obama Administration official involved in a regional or global governance meeting or dialogue, such as with ASEAN.¹⁴⁸ Thus, if the U.S. were so inclined, expanding that attention to the SCO would not be a complete change of regional strategy.

Chapter Six: What's At Stake for Washington?

What's so important about the SCO region that the U.S. might consider a change in its relationship with the organization in the future? What is at stake there for U.S. interests over the next few years?

The SCO's primary common objective is to counter terrorism, separatism, and extremism, which would seem to align closely with U.S. objectives against terrorism and concerns about extremist ideologies affecting international stability. All of the SCO member states have been hit with extremist or terrorist attacks in recent years. Tajikistan was plagued by such events in 2010—including a September ambush of government troops and an August jailbreak by convicted extremists—increasing U.S. and regional concerns about the emergence of Islamic fundamentalist-related terrorism in the neighborhood. In Russia, the Domodedovo airport suicide bombing in 2011 was a more recent example of this regional threat.

And there are already some troubling suggestions that the ultimate goal of the Coalition effort in Afghanistan — denying al-Qaeda a base for operations against the West — is under stress. The Wall Street Journal in April outlined the reappearance of al-Qaeda activity over the last several months in Afghanistan's northeast border region with Pakistan, including "setting up training camps, hideouts, and operations bases," taking place after the U.S. left this area under the command of Afghan security forces. Senior al-Qaeda operators and one of Saudi Arabia's most wanted militants have been killed or captured in the area since September of last year, raising concerns about al-Qaeda's interest in reestablishing a safe haven in Afghanistan. U.S. and Coalition forces cannot stay in Afghanistan forever. But geography is harder to escape and SCO participants, as Afghanistan's neighbors in the region, will remain. Establishing a better connection to, and possible partnership with, the SCO could help the U.S. track al-Qaeda and other extremist organizations in Afghanistan and the rest of Eurasia.

Beyond this primary shared concern of terrorism are three other important U.S. foreign policy interests — a rising China, a reset Russia, and unstable regional regimes — that might be better understood and pursued through an enhanced relationship with the SCO.

A. A Rising China.

Engagement with the SCO has the potential to benefit Washington by increasing U.S. awareness of Beijing's perceptions and regional activity as the rise of China continues, helping to mitigate the attendant uncertainty and angst. Such a move might

seem counterintuitive—after all, isn't China a major force within the SCO and wouldn't U.S. engagement thereby strengthen Beijing? But engagement does not have to be wholesale accommodation or appeasement. Interaction, on U.S. terms, could provide access and transparency, and possibly influence. Respected foreign policy commentator Fareed Zakaria characterized President Obama's November 2010 trip to Asia as "America's opening move in a new great power game unfolding in Asia." He noted the hope that a closer relationship between Washington and Beijing could be used to moderate Beijing's behavior and proposed American policy that could be thought of as a hedge strategy that would emphasize engagement, but be prepared, by cultivating relationships with China's Asian neighbors, in case China's rise turns increasingly negative. Cultivating the Chinese relationship through the SCO might fit into such a strategy.

B. A "Reset" Russia.

The Obama Administration's reset strategy for Russia is well-known and has had its successes and challenges. Commentators and officials in both the U.S. and Russia have noted the countries' common interests in stability, security, and economic progress desired in this region, suggesting engagement with the SCO, where Russia is a prime player, could complement the reset approach. A U.S. decision to work with the SCO also would appeal to Russia's desire to be viewed as a preeminent power in the region, especially in light of China's rising activities there.

C. Unstable Regimes.

The SCO neighborhood contains a variety of unstable or authoritarian regimes ripe for transition. Afghanistan, of course, is the nation the U.S. primarily is focused on right now, given combat troops on the ground there. SCO assistance to help achieve or maintain U.S. goals in Afghanistan, especially given the likelihood that U.S. and some Coalition forces will be in Afghanistan until 2014, if not longer, could be well worth the outreach from Washington.¹⁵³

A Council on Foreign Relations-sponsored independent task force, co-chaired by Richard Armitage and Samuel Berger, in November 2010 noted that what happens in Afghanistan and Pakistan – both participants in the SCO – matters to Americans. ¹⁵⁴ The task force judged that Americans will be less secure if terrorists are able to freely operate in Afghanistan and Pakistan, given their demonstrated ability to threaten the U.S. and its interests from those bases. The report noted the threat of extremists taking advantage of ethnic turmoil and internal conflict in both nations to win more influence, undermine fragile governance there, and increase tensions with their neighborhood, particularly given Pakistan's nuclear arsenal. It also stated that Afghanistan's neighbors also are particularly interested in the fate of Afghanistan during any potential conflict reconciliation process there, especially with Taliban elements, watching for their own

interests and for the potential for a renewed civil war. Two Russian think tank scholars, Dmitri Trenin and Alexey Malashenko, suggested in 2010 that the SCO could be a "useful convener" to bring about dialogue on national reconciliation in Afghanistan, given the organization's inclusion of many of the critical players on the issue. ¹⁵⁵ While it is unclear whether Washington would welcome this role for the SCO, the group, given its location and membership, no doubt will have the ability to influence the outcomes in Afghanistan, and therefore the U.S. might start to consider how most usefully to incorporate them into the process.

The sudden turmoil in Egypt this past winter, culminating in a change from a longtime autocratic ruler, along with the continuing unrest against long-time leaders in the Middle East and North Africa, are useful reminders of the situation with some SCO members. The Central Asian SCO states have had leadership challenges in their post-Soviet experiences, with states either still under the authoritarian rule of the same man since independence or subject to violent, shaky transitions. Presidents Nursultan Nazarbayev of Kazakhstan, Emomali Rahmon of Tajikistan, and Islom Karimov of Uzbekistan are all Soviet legacy rulers who have worked to suppress competitors and democratic processes, resulting in uncertain future transitions and stability. 156 Kyrgyzstan, the other Central Asian SCO country, in early April 2010 experienced riots that overthrew President Kurmanbek Bakiev, resulting in a provisional government with an appointed president through 31 December 2011. 157 Bakiev himself had previously come to power via a coup against former President Askar Akaev in 2005. 158 The State Department's Assistant Secretary of South and Central Asian Affairs Robert Blake told Congress in May that these countries to various degrees face similar dynamics – such as little economic opportunity for youth and endemic corruption – as do the Arab Spring countries, but their populations generally do not have as widespread access to technology or exposure to democratic examples, making it more challenging to replicate the recent citizen protests. He noted, however, that these governments will be presented with considerable challenges in coming years if they do not address the chronic lack of political, religious, and economic opportunities for their publics.¹⁵⁹

The presence of U.S. military facilities and transit routes in these Central Asian states increases the need for earlier Washington awareness of factors affecting regime stability. The Manas Transit Center in Kyrgyzstan has been a critical location for fueling Coalition tankers and has served as a hub for U.S. and Coalition troops entering and departing Afghanistan since it was established in December 2001. According to testimony in November 2010 by a U.S. deputy assistant secretary of defense, the U.S. ships over 1,000 containers a week to Afghanistan via Uzbekistan and the Northern Distribution Network in support of U.S. and Coalition forces there, which makes stability a continuing concern for Washington. This is a turnaround in support from Uzbekistan, which evicted the U.S. from the Karshi-Khanabad airbase in 2005 after four years of previous cooperation in support of Coalition activities in Afghanistan. The

Central Asian SCO states are vulnerable to unpredictable triggers for change. Through better engagement with the SCO, Washington could be more aware of signs of mercurial behavior in this region, and attempt to avoid or counter it, and anticipate the impact on U.S. interests.

Chapter Seven: Risks Exist for the U.S.

With potential benefits to be gained from enhanced cooperation with the SCO, what's been holding the U.S. back from consistent engagement? Washington likely is wary of being viewed as supportive of repressive regimes, of its overtures being publicly dismissed, and of being relegated to an ineffective role within the SCO if it moves to engage. Enhanced U.S.-SCO cooperation could start on a smaller scale to establish trust and results, and start with a variety of activities, including representatives at ministerial-level subject matter meetings, jointly sponsoring conferences, senior-level attendance on the sidelines of summit meetings, hosting SCO delegations on fact-finding missions or cultural exchanges, or even agreeing to pilot projects of scientific or economic cooperation. But, as with any policy formulation, the U.S. would need to consider the potential negative outcomes of such cooperation.

A. Unintentionally Endorsing Repressive Regimes.

A key concern for Washington, especially in this post-Mubarak, Arab Spring environment, would be that engaging more consistently with the SCO would be interpreted by others as overlooking and thereby implicitly endorsing the authoritarian regimes involved in the organization. When the Bush Administration adopted a position of active democracy promotion as a foreign policy priority, however, it complicated, but did not prevent, cooperation with governments characterized by independent organizations as less than free, such as some of the SCO's participants. After 9/11, prosecuting the war on terror meant that Washington sought out SCO members—even autocratic ones—as partners, but only on a bilateral basis. Even this strategic cooperation, however, was not immune to disruption when SCO members' regimes felt threatened by Washington's democracy promotion, as evidenced by the U.S. eviction from the K2 airbase by Uzbekistan. Although the balance was not always perceived as perfect, the Bush Administration demonstrated that promotion of human rights and democracy can co-exist with cooperation with less-than-free regimes.

The Obama Administration would need to define a space where it can support human rights and democratic values without triggering fearful reactions by foreign leaders concerned about regime change in SCO nations. The Atlantic Council's November 2010 Eurasia Task Force report on transatlantic strategy in Central Asia and the OSCE noted that engagement with Central Asian states should be viewed "as an investment and a mechanism for better embedding what Washington wants to talk about in a broader context that more visibly includes the interests of Central Asians and their leaders," as opposed to endorsement of good behavior. The U.S. might use the participation of more democratically free countries such as India and Mongolia in the

SCO as a useful entry point for such an investment and to model how U.S. involvement could be consistent with its values.

Susan Ball, a senior fellow at the Atlantic Council, wrote in March 2011 about the U.S. challenge of supporting human rights and democracy while acknowledging the need to work with authoritarian regimes. Ball's succinct tenets might be a useful starting place to help reconcile this challenge if Washington chooses to engage the SCO. She urged that U.S. officials:

- Avoid double standards (be consistent in our words and actions)
- Temper rhetoric (be stirring, but realistic)
- •Elevate the rank and role of U.S. officials responsible for democracy and human rights
- Focus on civil society (instead of just ruling elites)
- •Get back to the basics (make use of existing international and regional organizations to set norms and hold ourselves and others accountable)¹⁶³

The international, nongovernmental advocacy group Human Rights in China (HRIC) released in March 2011 its report on <u>Counter-Terrorism and Human Rights: The Impact of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization</u>. The white paper's authors expressed concern that the SCO's counterterrorism policies and practices have been unexamined by others, particularly the UN, as international attention has focused instead on marshaling regional groups' local experience and expertise against terrorists and SCO-UN cooperation has expanded. The HRIC provided extremely useful and specific recommendations on how the UN and others might better use principled engagement to promote attention to human rights conditions in the SCO states and to try to create a more accountable relationship with the SCO, including:

- UN documentation of SCO states' efforts to promote compliance with privacy safeguards and to ensure accuracy of information shared
- UN reporting on SCO states' progress on implementation of various UN human rights recommendations
- UN inclusion of human rights-related benchmarks, oversight, and expert consultations when expanding technical or security cooperation with the SCO
- UN human rights monitoring and follow up on cases of concern involving extradition, forced returns, and disappearances related to regional cooperation within the SCO
- The UN Special Rapporteur on counter-terrorism initiation of a dialogue with the SCO and request for a mission to the SCO Secretariat headquarters in Beijing and the Regional Anti-Terror Structure headquarters in Tashkent, Uzbekistan

If the U.S. decides to explore partnering with the SCO, getting behind these recommendations would go a long way to help keep America's values and interests aligned.

B. Subject to Rejection and Fickleness.

This administration was invited and welcomed to participate in the March 2009 SCO conference on Afghanistan hosted by Moscow, but could the provisional welcome mat for the U.S. disappear? A risk in reconsidering engagement with the SCO is the chance that Washington will be ignored, put off, or outright rejected. Moreover, officials may believe it would be unseemly for the sole superpower to appear as a supplicant, especially one that might be unsuccessful in its overtures for a relationship. A potential approach to mitigating these possibilities might be to have an agreed set of criteria within the U.S. government and between the U.S. and the SCO governing such engagement from the outset, particularly on the pace of activities, the level of representation in events, the objectives desired, and regular assessments of effectiveness. This approach would take time and patience to begin, probably in informal channels, and to see through, given the SCO's consensus operating style and the multiple players involved. In the end, however, accomplishing important and complex objectives requires taking such measured risks.

C. No Seat at the Big Table.

Given the SCO's recently promulgated guidelines on adopting new members—in particular, that they must be a state located in the region—means that Washington should not expect full membership status in the foreseeable future. Membership, however, probably is not desired by the U.S. in any event at this time, given Washington's hesitancy to engage thus far. The question, then, is whether the U.S. can accept a limited official relationship with the group or whether it believes it must hold a leadership or more central spot in the group in order to achieve its objectives within the SCO and its participants.

The U.S. could consult SCO observers and possibly dialogue partners to gain insights and possible suggestions on ways to achieve progress on non-member goals. The SCO has pledged to better integrate observers into the group's processes, but it is not clear how this might extend to other associated players. The U.S. could also review its new participation in the East Asia Summit for a possible precedent in successfully beginning a relationship with a group originally intended to omit Washington as a member. The U.S. and Russia both attended the East Asia Summit as observers in 2010, and have been invited to attend 2011's summit as official partners. Some analysts have speculated that East Asia Summit participants chose to invite them to help balance against a rising China in that forum, and a similar situation might exist in the SCO, helping Washington to gain traction for participation there as well. The U.S.-EU

relationship provides another example of U.S. cooperation with an organization without formal membership status. The U.S. has maintained diplomatic relations with the EU and its forerunners since 1953, with a U.S. mission to the group established in 1961. However, it did not formalize cooperation until 1990, when it agreed to a Transatlantic Declaration which laid out principles of cooperation and set up a series of joint summits and ministerial meetings. Again, U.S. officials would need to calculate how much engagement Washington would be comfortable with and what role it requires to achieve its goals.

Chapter Eight: Strategies for a Future U.S.-SCO Relationship

The SCO exists in a region of U.S. interests and challenges, but official membership status in the SCO probably is neither preferred nor attainable for Washington, given each party's lingering suspicions of the other's long-term intentions. The pace and depth of any engagement likely will be slow and limited at least in the beginning. When assessing the potential benefits and risks, however, the U.S. basically has three approaches to consider for Washington's future relationship with the SCO. The U.S. could adopt a position of active opposition to or benign neglect toward the SCO, or move toward more active partnership.

A. Active Opposition.

The U.S., as the most powerful nation in the world, has tremendous hard and soft power at its disposal that it could bring to bear to actively confront and sideline the SCO and its goals. Washington might adopt this strategy if it concluded that the group's ulterior objective was to undermine U.S. interests in the region. Further, especially given recent events in the Middle East and North Africa, the U.S. might want to take this stance to demonstrate that it will not take action supportive of authoritarian governments. While this strategy would serve to inhibit the SCO, the U.S. would still find it necessary to engage bilaterally with its members' governments to protect American interests, particularly in Afghanistan for the next few years, resulting in a engaged/not engaged, bifurcated foreign policy. Soft power steps might include U.S. requests for other countries or organizations, like the EU or OSCE, to refrain from engagement that could further exclude the SCO's external legitimization and present a united front against non-democratic norms. Though there exists this possibility, such requests might be met with resistance as others could see value in engagement with the SCO, setting up uncomfortable choices for others and potential defeats for Washington.

B. Benign Neglect.

In this instance, the U.S. could deem bilateral ties with SCO countries sufficient to achieve American interests in the region and decline to seek out further cooperation with the group. Washington's actions would effectively deny the SCO the legitimacy that engagement would impart, similar to the previous strategy, but the U.S. would not actively work against the group or seek to deter others from cooperation. Washington might judge that any missed opportunities to cooperate would be acceptable and that the SCO is not worth taking action against, or just assess that it would be counterproductive to array the U.S.'s resources against it. One commentator's proposal that aligns somewhat with this view suggests that the U.S. could use a select few allies,

such as Afghanistan or Turkey, to act as an informal U.S.-SCO conduit, to gain insider information without Washington having to interact itself with the group. Such a plan, however, would require these states to enhance their own activities with the organization (Turkey does not have any official membership role and Afghanistan attends as part of the SCO-Afghanistan Contact Group, not as an official observer or member). Having an undeclared source of insight into the SCO instead of an official presence probably would be viewed with suspicion and mistrust by the group if found out and jeopardize any future relationship if the U.S. changed its mind about engaging with the SCO.

C. Positive Partnership.

An alternative strategy the U.S. could pursue might be one of partnership with the group on issues of common concern, such as counterterrorism and counter narcotics. This strategy could be complementary to existing bilateral ties Washington has with SCO participants, provide an additional forum for the U.S. to promote cooperation on regional and critical transnational issues, lessen the chances for negative surprises emanating from the area, and avoid the dangers of a zero-sum "great game" approach to the region. This type of approach is much like that proposed more generally by Daniel Deudney and G. John Ikenberry, writing in Foreign Affairs in 2009, who asserted that "a successful foreign policy should also seek to integrate, rather than exclude, autocratic and rising great powers," primarily by jointly addressing "real and shared problems rather than focusing on ideological differences...looking for alignments based on interests rather than regime type."169 Former U.S. Ambassador to the OSCE, Stephan Minikes, in April 2010 urged the U.S. to use the OSCE to reach out to the SCO as a way to encourage both organizations to cooperate on issues of "common cause." With this strategy, the U.S. likely would find it necessary to consistently raise democratic and human rights norms to avoid the appearance of endorsing authoritarian regimes.

Current U.S. officials already have raised the question of whether the U.S. is best served relying solely on bilateral ties or whether engagement on additional fronts is necessary. U.S. Defense Secretary Robert Gates, speaking to an audience in Japan in 2007, noted that the U.S. security relationship in Asia after World War II consisted of a "hub and spoke" model, reflecting the primacy of bilateral relationships. He commented that these relationships are enduring and indispensable, but stated the U.S. desire to complement them with more multilateral ties. Gates judged that the threats the U.S. faces cannot be successfully handled by one or two nations, but by several, cooperating and contributing their own special capabilities. The Secretary also mentioned that earlier that year he had challenged East Asian leaders to play bigger roles in integrating Central Asia and South Asia into their security architectures. ¹⁷⁰ A positive partnership with the SCO would seem to follow Gates' suggested approaches.

Engagement with the SCO also might provide a forum within which the U.S. could interact with SCO participants not currently in Washington's favor, such as Iran. In the Chicago Council on Global Affairs' 2010 national survey of American public opinion, 62 percent of those polled favored U.S. leaders meeting and talking with Iran's leaders, although 54 percent opposed establishing diplomatic relations, suggesting the public sees some maneuvering room for Washington to engage more positively with Tehran.¹⁷¹

Some experts have raised the question of whether the SCO's new dialogue partner status would be suitable for the U.S., but Washington may not view the current roster of SCO dialogue partners – Belarus and Sri Lanka – as one desirable for the U.S. to join. A more promising and less formal (and entangling) venue of engagement could be project oriented, particularly on the most pressing topic in the SCO region for Washington – Afghanistan.

Chapter Nine: Recommendations for Forward Progress

Changing the U.S. approach to the SCO is fraught with challenges and requires the administration's study and due consideration. Should the United States opt for a strategy of partnership as a potentially more effective means to gain cooperation and influence on regionally-based national security issues, the next decisions likely would involve specific bureaucratic and policy steps to try to ensure enhanced engagement results in positive outcomes. Coordinated departmental communication to support outreach to this multilateral and multifunctional organization and specific action plans for positive and tangible deliverables would be a priority. The administration could consider some of the following concrete actions by the primary executive branch organizations charged with formulating and executing foreign policy: the State Department, the Defense Department, and the National Security Council.

A. Department of State.

Statements by officials now at the State Department suggest the potential for action in support of engagement with the SCO has increased since the last U.S. administration. Kurt Campbell, the Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific Affairs, co-authored a June 2008 think tank report that concluded a lack of U.S. engagement with Asian regional groups is an obstacle to achieving U.S. interests. ¹⁷³ The report noted that while many experts judge groups like the SCO as talk shops, the lack of U.S. presence with them "carries real costs." Deputy Secretary of State James Steinberg, when asked about the SCO at a public conference in June 2010, answered that he thought it was "important that we continue to interact with the SCO" citing "different ways in which non-members can engage." ¹⁷⁴ And most recently, Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs Robert Blake publicly stated during a visit to China in March 2011 that while the U.S. had not decided whether to seek an official role within the organization, "we think the SCO is a good platform for discussions on how to improve stability and prosperity in the region." ¹⁷⁵

These senior State Department officials' apparent support for engagement with the SCO and other similar groups may have helped set in motion at least one bureaucratic change which would better facilitate such cooperation. The State Department established in late 2009 an Office of Policy, Regional, and Functional Organizations under the International Organizations Bureau. 176 According to State's Foreign Affairs Manual, the office guidance includes three mandates: systematic policy reviews on multilateral issues, focus on coherence and direction of U.S. government engagement as a whole, and working closely with regional bureaus in interagency policy discussions on multilateral engagement. This last directive is especially crucial

because of the broad geographic scope of the SCO. Indeed, the SCO is a regional grouping, but its participants do not align with any one of the specific regional bureaus in the Department. As State currently is organized, SCO participants fall under three different regional bureaus (European and Eurasian Affairs, East Asian and Pacific Affairs, and South and Central Asian Affairs). Speaking at a January 2011 public event, Assistant Secretary of State for International Organization (IO) Affairs Esther Brimmer noted that the office was intended to help more consistently integrate the U.S.'s bilateral, regional, and multilateral diplomacy.¹⁷⁷ The State Department's first Quadrennial Diplomacy and Development Review (QDDR) noted that this new office would serve as a "clearinghouse for best practices and ways to leverage expertise" regarding multilateral organizations.¹⁷⁸

Possible next steps for this new office include creating a desk-level working group to specifically reach across the three different regional bureaus and numerous other functional initiatives within the State Department (such as counter narcotics, counterterrorism, human rights, economics) and with forward-deployed officers to ensure consistent, comprehensive, and coordinated approaches to the SCO. Regular interaction could help establish goals, maintain momentum, and conduct timely assessments of progress in such outreach and cooperation. The working group could maintain databases on the SCO's organization, officials, activities, and seek to identify opportunities for the U.S. to engage on issues of concern. This desk-level group would be responsible for putting forward proposals and reporting to more senior-level groups, such as the one outlined in the QDDR of regional office directors and the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of the IO bureau. Setting up a functioning and successful working group undoubtedly is an incremental, bureaucratic step, however, the diplomatic complexities of outreach to a group like the SCO, crossing multiple bureaus and offices, encompassing challenging relationships with China and Russia, and in a region where the U.S. currently has deployed combat troops, would benefit from a solid institutional footing and process.

B. Department of Defense.

If the U.S. were to decide to more consistently engage with the SCO, the Defense Department could also consider additional steps to facilitate such cooperation. With senior DOD support, the various regional unified commands associated with SCO states, as well as their associated Pentagon-based officials, could parallel the State Department's efforts to form a SCO working group with the same objectives, but in different policy areas than State — to better integrate bilateral, regional, and multilateral defense and security policies.

Much like the State Department, the Defense Department's current regional organization means that SCO participant countries fall into three separate commands in the field (European, Pacific, and Central).¹⁷⁹ In addition, at the Pentagon, under the

Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy, there are two Assistant Secretaries of Defense offices which are responsible for countries that participate in the SCO (International Security Affairs and Asian and Pacific Security Affairs). Organizationally below those offices are Deputy Assistant Secretaries of Defense, five of which cover the different SCO states regionally (European and NATO, South and Southeast Asia, Afghanistan/Pakistan/Central Asia, Russia/Ukraine/Eurasia, East Asian and Pacific), not to mention others who cover functional areas like counter narcotics. This structure means that coordination of activities and proposals and sharing of best practices is critical to a coherent outreach program for a complex organization such as the SCO.

Beyond bureaucratic alignment for cooperation with the SCO, the U.S., if it chose to further engage the SCO, might also consider next steps on military-to-military familiarization. The Defense Department maintains various attaches around the world who also could serve as liaison or act as observers to SCO activities such as security exercises. Members of the SCO, including China and Kazakhstan, already have participated bilaterally in military exercises with NATO or NATO members, suggesting a preliminary precedent for either U.S.-SCO or NATO-SCO activities. China for the first time participated in joint air exercises with a NATO member — Turkey — in late September and early October at Anatolian Eagle-2010. Chinese fighters operated alongside Turkish ones in mock dogfights and other maneuvers which, along with Beijing's participation in anti-piracy activities off the coast of Africa alongside NATO countries and others, could provide a starting point for future U.S. or NATO cooperative security engagement with the SCO as an organization, which the Defense Department could help facilitate.¹⁸¹

The U.S. (and Great Britain) has joined with Kazakhstan on Partnership for Peace (PfP) exercises for the last several years, called Steppe Eagle, held under NATO auspices. Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan have also engaged in these PfP defense training and exercises. 182,183,184,185 The Russia-NATO relationship also could be considered a precedent for organization-to-organization cooperation. Under a NATO-Russia Council pilot project, Russia (along with Turkey and Finland) hosted counter narcotics training for close to 1,250 officers of Afghanistan and Central Asia in 2010.186

The Defense Department might also consider ways to better familiarize SCO participants with its ongoing activities in Afghanistan via the Manas Transit Center in Kyrgyzstan, to increase awareness of the base's security and local humanitarian efforts, and to help alleviate regional suspicions of the base's intentions. Earlier this year, the U.S. for the first time hosted Russian officers from the Kant air base in Kyrgyzstan for a visit to Manas, reportedly after nine years of invitations. The base has hosted international ambassadors before and other officials, but future efforts could focus on inviting a group of political, military, and business professionals from SCO countries. 188

C. National Security Council (NSC).

Former National Security Advisor General James Jones was asked in a March 2009 press conference about the SCO and whether the U.S. was "willing to work with them and partner with them" on Afghanistan, and if Presidents Obama and Medvedev would have such cooperation on their agenda for an upcoming meeting in London. General Jones replied that "the answer to all those questions is yes," according to the official transcript of the conference. ¹⁸⁹ If the current NSC leadership continues to agree with that view, the Departments of State and Defense would be important players for implementing a policy decision to enhance engagement with the SCO, but the NSC would be critical in guiding the process and ensuring senior-level administration approval and oversight.

NSC officials' main role is to help take the President's goals and implement them through coordinated and focused policy steps. For outreach to the SCO, the NSC could collaborate with newly-formed SCO working groups of the State and Defense Departments to create an action plan for positive, tangible deliverables. Such a plan would need to be informed by intelligence assessments of the SCO's development, interests, and potential, and aimed at building trust between the U.S. and the SCO. Given the common priority of stability in Afghanistan for both the SCO and the U.S., deliverables in the near term likely would focus on that country, although other areas, particularly less problematic issues such as disaster relief, could be considered as opportunities and needs arise.

One specific and positive deliverable from the SCO, for example, could be assistance to the U.S. effort to stop the transit into Afghanistan of chemicals used in making roadside bombs. Operation Global Shield aims to halt precursor chemicals such as ammonium nitrate and potassium chloride from reaching insurgents by tightening customs procedures at Afghanistan's borders. These chemicals are already banned by Afghanistan, but neighboring Pakistan does not have a prohibition, although it claims that such legislation is under consideration. Washington reportedly is working on this issue with Interpol, the World Customs Organization, and the U.N.'s Office on Drugs and Crime, but, as U.S. Senator Robert Casey acknowledged in a New York Times article, "You've got to have a whole series of pressure points." In testimony before the Senate in November 2010, Department of Defense officials stated that "the best way to obtain results is through engagement with the international community, including with...multinational partners..."190 Involving SCO participants would capture all but one of the nations bordering Afghanistan, including Iran – which also is suspected of shipments, but which has little official interaction with the U.S.¹⁹¹ The lone non-SCO neighbor, Turkmenistan, has been a guest at SCO summits, however, and might be open to assisting on this issue, too. Cooperation would be challenging because of corruption and lax security at some border points, and it would be subject to bilateral tensions which sometimes close border crossings, so why would SCO nations be willing to tackle those issues in order to help the U.S. and Coalition forces on a chemical ban or regulation? Beyond the public relations appeal to be seen as helpful against terrorists, the states would likely understand that they are not immune to the scourge of insurgent-placed bombs and that practices directed now at Coalition forces could easily be redirected at them.

Counter narcotics is another specific area of potential cooperation between the U.S. and the SCO. In late October 2010, Russian participants joined with U.S. and Afghan forces in a successful raid on drug labs in Afghanistan, destroying more than a ton of heroin and four opium-refining labs, according to the Afghan Ministry of Counter Narcotics. 192 Despite Afghan leaders' criticism about the Russian involvement "without prior authorization" — a reaction probably primarily aimed at domestic audiences nervous about the return of Russians to Afghanistan after their occupation of the country from 1979 to 1989 – the successful operation showed a potential for future U.S.-SCO joint law enforcement-military activities against the drug trade in Afghanistan. U.S. officials characterized the raid as a sign of international counter narcotics cooperation, acknowledging the necessary role of other neighboring nations in this fight. 193 A foundation of multilateral cooperation that would be complementary to bilateral moves already exists. U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency officers in the past have observed the CSTO's Operation Canal, which since 2003 has included most of the SCO states in drug trafficking interdiction efforts. 194 The NATO-Russia Council's counter narcotics project also has included training courses for Afghan and Central Asian counterparts, involving all SCO members except for China. The Central Asian Regional Information and Coordination Center (CARICC), an UN-led organization, became fully operational in 2009 to jointly combat narcotics and includes all SCO members, except China. Establishing direct cooperation with the SCO would add to the coordination of counter narcotics efforts in the region by including China in the discussions and exchange of information.¹⁹⁵

Additional potential action, which the SCO could help sponsor and encourage, includes those drawn from the November 2010 Council on Foreign Relations (CFR) independent task force on Afghanistan and Pakistan. The CFR report's authors recommend that the U.S. encourage private-sector investment in Afghanistan's natural resources and vital infrastructure needs to help Kabul build a sustainable national base for trade and jobs, which some SCO members like China have already taken steps to do and that the SCO could partner with the U.S. to further enhance. Thin have invested heavily in copper and iron mines, roads, digital telephone switches, and power plants. The U.S. also could partner with SCO members to underscore Kabul's need to tackle corruption and over dependency on natural resources, possibly helping Afghanistan use other nations' experiences by providing lessons learned on creating a sovereign wealth fund to manage such revenue and investment, an idea suggested by Oxford Sovereign Wealth Fund co-director Ashby Monk in August 2010.

tensions might also help convince SCO states to help in this way, if only to ensure one country does not benefit from corrupt practices more than others.

The NSC also could consider including the SCO as a partner if the administration takes up some of the recommendations from a February 2011 Senate Foreign Relations Committee's majority staff report about Central Asian regional water resource management.²⁰⁰ Hydropower resources are a source of enduring tension between SCO participants. The staff report recommends that the U.S. consider such activities to promote regional cooperation by targeting comprehensive assistance to both upstream and downstream projects, recognizing that partial solutions can unintentionally increase tensions. Sharing U.S. technical expertise on water use and monitoring, and encouraging dialogue between communities are among some of the report's specific suggestions, which the U.S. could try to facilitate through SCO channels as a way to simultaneously reach key stakeholders. The NSC could be the focal point to bring together U.S. government expertise from across civilian agencies and private enterprises.

Other infrastructure, specifically regional transportation, may also hold promise as an area for U.S.-SCO cooperation, given demonstrated interest and activities from both parties, particularly in Afghanistan, as a sort of revived Silk Road effort. Regional expert S. Frederick Starr, in a January 2011 paper, argued that the U.S. should consider making transportation improvements in Afghanistan a government-wide priority that he believes would complement and facilitate the military and other economic initiatives there. Starr concludes that only a regional solution will ensure success.²⁰¹

If the U.S. decides to pursue a course to enhance engagement with the SCO, it will need to carefully manage the multi-track relationship, too, ensuring that the bilateral relationships with SCO participants are not damaged inadvertently through interaction with the SCO as a whole. Just as exclusive bilateral relationships are not sufficient to handle transnational issues, neither are solely multilateral relationships. The U.S. already has templates for this through its relations with other multilateral organizations like NATO, the EU, and the UN. The administration has taken steps to solidify bilateral communications with individual SCO states, which provides the necessary foundation for continued cooperation overall. For example, in 2010, the U.S. launched an annual bilateral dialogue with Central Asian states meant to identify and promote common priorities.²⁰² The Obama-Medvedev Presidential Commission has also been established to help solidify U.S.-Russian interaction. Its external proposals have suggested that the commission include increased cooperation on drug abuse treatment and prevention in its counter narcotics working group, and leverage U.S. and Russian disaster relief expertise in other countries via the commission's emergency situations working group, both issues the SCO has also delved into that could be areas of dialogue and partnership.²⁰³

Conclusion:

Like all organizations, particularly multilateral ones, the SCO has had its ups and downs in its relatively short ten-year lifespan. It has operated on the fringes of most policy experts' attention, with a few watching it intermittently and most others ignoring it.²⁰⁴ The group at this point, however, is accomplishing its objectives of organizational development, outreach to other multilateral groups, and broadening and deepening its scope of effort in the region. Despite persistent challenges brought on by bilateral tensions amongst its participants, the SCO has proven it is here to stay, bolstered by the participants' perception of value in association and by the global rise in acceptance of regional actors. This year's ten-year anniversary of the SCO invites a new assessment of it by non-participant states and organizations.

For most of the SCO's existence, the U.S. has tentatively approached it, unsure of the group's legitimacy and wary of its intentions. But now Beijing and Moscow — the SCO's power players — seemingly have secured their stakes in the organization and its future, and most of the participants appear eager to continue, if not deepen, their role in it. Washington has pursued bilateral relationships with most SCO participants, and key executive branch players appear to support multilateral and regional-based engagement, but there is yet to be attention given to a relationship with the SCO itself. Policy on such a relationship has the potential to impact important U.S. interests, such as a rising China, the Russian reset, and unstable regimes throughout the SCO region. But the risks to the U.S. of appearing to endorse repressive regimes, or of being rejected, sidelined, or negatively used by the group are real and require serious consideration.

If the U.S. chooses to move forward with the SCO, there are steps Washington should consider to assess the prospects of and begin realistic engagement and enhance its position in a region where trust is hard to come by and where U.S. interests look to endure. Much of the process at the outset would be bureaucratic in nature, but would progress to more substantive steps as engagement decisions are made.

Specifically, the U.S. must consider:

- Charging the State Department's new Office of Policy, Regional, and Functional Organizations with the lead role on evaluating various U.S. approaches toward the SCO, including potential benefits and risks
- •If outreach is approved, creating a desk-level working group within the State and Defense Departments to specifically reach across the different regional bureaus, commands, and numerous other functional initiatives at headquarters and with forward-deployed locations to ensure consistent, comprehensive, and coordinated approaches to the SCO

•Establishing a focal point at the NSC to ensure incorporation of national-level intelligence analytic support, as well as senior-level policy engagement, and to collaborate with newly-formed SCO working groups of the State and Defense Departments to create a coherent action plan for positive, tangible deliverables aimed at building trust between the U.S. and the SCO

Tin is the traditional ten-year anniversary gift according to lists compiled by wedding and etiquette experts, but, for Washington, turning a "tin ear" to the SCO in the future may have negative consequences for its broader interests in the Eurasian region.

¹ See Mandelbaum, Michael, <u>The Frugal Superpower: America's Global Leadership in a Cash-Strapped Era</u>, p. 108, 2010, Public Affairs/Perseus Books Group; or Parag Khanna, <u>The Second World: Empires and Influence in the New Global Order</u>, p. 110, 2008, Random House.

² Wong, Edward, "China Quietly Extends Footprints Into Central Asia," *New York Times*, 2 January 2011, http://www.nytimes.com/2011/01/03/world/asia/03china.html, accessed 27 Jan 2011.

³ Germanovich, Gene, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization: A Threat to American Interests in Central Asia?" *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 6, No. 1, 2008,

http://www.chinaeurasia.org/images/stories/isdp-cefq/CEFQ200802/scotaia20080219-38.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

⁴ Weitz, Richard, "What's Happened to the SCO?" *The Diplomat*, 17 May 2010, http://the-diplomat.com/2010/05/17/what's-happened-to-the-sco/, accessed 27 Nov 2010.

⁵ Official Website of SCO Summit 2006, "Main Events Within Framework of Shanghai Five, SCO," 19 Apr 2006, http://english.scosummit2006.org/en_bjzl/2006-04/19/content_62.htm, accessed 21 Dec 2010.

⁶ See the SCO's official website, <u>www.sectsco.org</u>, for additional facts and news about the organization's history, structure, and activities.

⁷ Human Rights in China, <u>Counter-Terrorism and Human Rights: The Impact of the Shanghai</u>
<u>Cooperation Organization</u>, Appendix A.2, "The Shanghai Convention on Combating Terrorism,
Separatism, and Extremism," Mar 2011, http://www.hrichina.org/content/5204, accessed 24 May 2011.

⁸ Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, "China's Position Paper on the New Security Concept," 31 July 2002,

http://www.mfa.gov.cn/eng/wjb/zzjg/gjs/gjzzyhy/2612/2614/t15319.htm, accessed 24 May 2011.

⁹ Pannier, Bruce, "SCO Observers Steal the Spotlight at Regional Summit," rferl.org, 16 Jun 2009, http://www.rferl.org/content/SCO_Observers_Steal_The_Spotlight_At_Regional_Summit/1755798.htm l, accessed 19 Nov 2010.

¹⁰ "Russia Offers Afghanistan Observer Status in the SCO," *Ferghana.news*, 14 March 2011, http://enews.fergananews.com/news.php?id=2051, accessed 15 Mar 2011.

¹¹ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Regulations on the Status of Dialogue Partners of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation," 28 Aug 2008, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=64, accessed 19 Nov 2010.

¹² Frost, Alexander, "The CSTO, the SCO, and Russia's Strategic Goals in Central Asia," *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 7, No. 3, 2009, http://www.chinaeurasia.org/images/stories/isdp-cefq/CEFQ200910/cefq7.3af83-102.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹³ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "The Development of SCO's Links with International Organisations in 2007-2008," 31 Dec 2008, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=120, accessed 17 Dec 2010.

¹⁴ "SCO Secretariat Launched in Beijing," People's Daily Online, 15 Jan 2004,

http://english.peopledaily.com.cn/200401/15/eng20040115_132679.shtml, accessed 22 Dec 2010; and "Tashkent Summit Marks New Phase for SCO," China Daily, 18 Jun 2004,

http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/english/doc/2004-06/18/content_340361.htm, accessed 22 Dec 2010.

¹⁵ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Declaration on 5th Anniversary of SCO," 15 Jun 2006, http://english.scosummit2006.org/en_zxbb/2006-06/15/content_755.htm, accessed 22 Dec 2010.

¹⁶ Examples of YouTube clips, "Russia-China SCO Military Exercise 2009,"

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gSeVzkpOQf8, or "SCO Combined Maneuvers 2007," http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fxhnA2f-b-U, accessed 8 Feb 2011.

¹⁷ de Haas, Marcel, "The 'Peace Mission 2007' Exercises: The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation Advances," Defence Academy of the United Kingdom, Central Asian Series, September 2007, http://www.clingendael.nl/publications/2007/20070900_cscp_paper_haas.pdf, accessed 8 Feb 2011.
 ¹⁸ Attewill, Fred, "Putin Orders Resumption of Strategic Bomber Flights," *guardian.co.uk*, 17 August 2007,

http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2007/aug/17/russia.usa, accessed 8 Feb 2011.

- ¹⁹ Lukoil press release, "Volgograd Refinery Hosted International Anti-Terrorism Exercises," 4 September 2008, http://www.lukoil.com/press.asp?div_id=1&id=2921, accessed 8 Feb 2011.
- ²⁰ CEF Weekly Newsletter, China and Eurasia Forum, No. 11, 6-12 March 2006,
- http://www.silkroadstudies.org/new/docs/CEF/Weekly/March_6-12_2006.pdf, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ²¹ Malikova, Anna, "Uzbek Islamic Movement Considered a Threat to Asian Security, *CentralAsiaOnline.com*, 23 April 2009,
- http://centralasiaonline.com/cocoon/caii/xhtml/en_GB/features/caii/features/2009/04/23/feature-02, accessed 8 Feb 2011.
- ²² Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Norak-Antiterror is Military Training for SCO Anti-Terrorist Forces," 23 April 2009, http://infoshos.ru/en/?idn=4086, accessed 8 Feb 2011.
- ²³ "China Tries Long-Distance Air Attack Mode in Drill," Xinhua, 21 September 2010,
- http://news.xinhuanet.com/english2010/china/2010-09/20/c_13522041.htm, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ²⁴ "China Completes 1st Cross-Border Strike," China Daily, 25 September 2010,
- http://www.china.org.cn/world/2010-09/25/content_20997982.htm, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ²⁵ Radyuhin, Vladimir, "SCO: Towards a High-Profile Role in Afghanistan," *The Hindu*, 31 Mar 2009, http://www.hinduonnet.com/2009/03/31/stories/2009033152430800.htm, accessed 29 Nov 2010.
- ²⁶ VOANews.com, "U.S., Iran Attend Afghan Conference in Moscow," 27 Mar 2009,
- http://www.voanews.com/english/news/a-13-2009-03-27-voa54-68678047.html, accessed 29 Nov 2010.
- ²⁷ Rubin, Alissa, "Karzai Protests Russian Agents in Drug Raid," New York Times, 30 Oct 2010,
- http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/31/world/asia/31afghan.html?_r=2&ref=world, accessed 21 Nov 2010.
- ²⁸ Bailes, Alyson J.K., and Pal Dunay, Pan Guang, Mikhail Troitskiy, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization," SIPRI Policy Paper No. 17, May 2007, http://books.sipri.org/files/PP/SIPRIPP17.pdf, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ²⁹ "Expert Meeting on Implementing the UN Global Counter-Terrorism Strategy in Central Asia to Be Held in Slovakia," UN Information Service, 9 December 2010,
- http://www.unis.unvienna.org/unis/pressrels/2010/unisinf393.html, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³⁰ Samarkhan, Kurmat, "SCO RATS to Improve Anti-terror Work Through Joint Efforts of Its Member States, Dzhumanbekov," *Kazinform*, 9 February 2011, http://www.inform.kz/eng/article/2349905, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³¹ Tolipov, Farkhod, "Multilateralism, Bilateralism, and Unilateralism in Fighting Terrorism in the SCO Area," China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly, Vol. 4, No. 2 (2006),
- http://www.silkroadstudies.org/new/docs/CEF/Quarterly/May_2006/Tolipov.pdf, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³² Suleimenov, Ruslan, "SCO-Important Forum to Find Solutions for Regional Security Challenges," *Kazinform*, 28 December 2009, http://www.inform.kz/eng/article/2223613, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³³ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "A Meeting of the Council of SCO RATS Took Place in Tashkent," 20 Oct 2009, http://infoshos.ru/en/?idn=5002, accessed 15 Dec 2010.
- ³⁴ CARICC official website, "Protocol on Cooperation Between RATS SCO and CARICC Signed," 27 Sep 2010, http://www.caricc.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=216&Itemid=1, accessed 30 Nov 2010.
- ³⁵ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Plan of Action of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization Member States and the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan on Combating Terrorism, Illicit Drug Trafficking and Organized Crime," 27 March 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=99, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³⁶ Mannonov, Bahrom, "Tajik Leader Offers Establishment of SCO Regional Antidrug Center in Dushanbe," *asiaplus.tj*, 26 July 2008, http://asiaplus.tj/en/news/48/35532.html, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ³⁷ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Chronicle of Main Events at SCO in 2009," 31 Dec 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=182, accessed 15 Dec 2010.
- ³⁸ Weitz, Richard and Dmitri Titoff, "The Afghan Drug Challenge: A Russian Perspective," *sldinfo.com*, 21 December 2010, http://www.sldinfo.com/?p=13496, accessed 9 Feb 2011.

```
39 Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Agreement Between the Governments of the Member
States of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization on Cooperation in the Field of International Information
Security," 2 Dec 2008, http://media.npr.org/assets/news/2010/09/23/cyber_treaty.pdf, accessed 30
Nov 2010.
<sup>40</sup> Gjelten, Tom, "Seeing the Internet As An 'Information Weapon'," 23 Sep 2010,
http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=130052701, accessed 29 Nov 2010.
<sup>41</sup> Chin, Gregory, "China's Rising Institutional Influence," in Alan Alexandroff and Andrew Cooper,
Rising States, Rising Institutions: Challenges for Global Governance, 2010,
http://books.google.com/books?id=LXb6bjqdzlMC&pg=PA83&lpg=PA83&dq=chin+gregory+china's+ri
sing+institutional+influence&source=bl&ots=JhzHN1uXW8&sig=h2yAaaVK7hLFJgdlNx6Vz3AL8Eo&hl
=en&ei=l hATbmRBM73gAeLs6mHAw&sa=X&oi=book result&ct=result&resnum=1&ved=0CBMQ6AE
wAA#v=onepage&q=chin%20gregory%20china's%20rising%20institutional%20influence&f=false.
<sup>42</sup> Norling, Nicklas and Niklas Swanstrom, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization, Trade, and the
Roles of Iran, India, and Pakistan," Central Asian Survey (September 2007), 26(3),
http://www.silkroadstudies.org/new/docs/publications/2007/CAS-SCO.pdf, accessed 7 Feb 2011.
<sup>43</sup> St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and
Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june 5 cooperation sco en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
<sup>44</sup> St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and
Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june_5_cooperation_sco_en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
<sup>45</sup> SCO Business Council website, "Dmitry Mezentsev: First SCO Health Train to Come to Uzbekistan," 26
September 2007, <a href="http://delsovet.org/?level=10&id=43&lng=en">http://delsovet.org/?level=10&id=43&lng=en</a>, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
<sup>46</sup> SCO Business Council website, "SCO Economic Cooperation Programme to be Filled with 'Live'
Projects," 12 September 2008, http://bc-sco.org/?level=10&id=532&lng=en, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
<sup>47</sup> "SCO Business Council website, "SCO 'Health-Care Party' Left Tajikistan," 17 September 2008,
http://bc-sco.org/?level=10&id=538&lng=en, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
<sup>48</sup> St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and
Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june_5_cooperation_sco_en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
<sup>49</sup> Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "The Interbank Consortium of the Shanghai Cooperation
Organisation," 16 Mar 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=51, accessed 14 Dec 2010.
<sup>50</sup> Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "The Interbank Consortium of the Shanghai Cooperation
Organisation," 16 Mar 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=51, access 17 Dec 2010.
<sup>51</sup> St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and
Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june_5_cooperation_sco_en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
52 "Kyrgyz, Russian Provinces to Sign Economic Cooperation Agreement," CentralAsia Newswire, 9
February 2011, http://centralasianewswire.com/International/Kyrgyz-Russian-provinces-to-sign-
economic-cooperation-agreement/viewstory.aspx?id=3219, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
53 Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Joint Initiative on Increasing Multilateral Economic
Cooperation in the Field of Tackling the Consequences of the Global Financial Economic Crisis and
Ensuring Further Economic Development of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation Member States," 14
Oct 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=146, accessed 14 Dec 2010.
<sup>54</sup> Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Chronicle of events at SCO in 2009," 31 Dec 2009,
http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=182, accessed 15 Dec 2010.
55 "China to Grant $10bln Loan to SCO States to Overcome Crisis," RiaNovosti, 16 Jun 2009,
http://en.rian.ru/world/20090616/155263957.html?id=, accessed 22 Dec 2010.
<sup>56</sup> Bin, Yu, "Mr. Putin Goes to China: Ten Years After," Comparative Connections, Jan 2010,
```

http://docs.google.com/viewer?a=v&q=cache:poA3AJIze7wJ:csis.org/files/publication/0904qchina_russia.pdf+sco+billion+interbank&hl=en&gl=us&pid=bl&srcid=ADGEESgU1CYa93JGI8KeNuw2w1uD38d

- HSehRwL5oOKEOHnehrUDnnm_CLuczHLQUpzGiJENFIIdJCWXsDcN4t5byoBe3uHRuBDjGIPfgP3IM1 q1biwxyElwh2Y4mhnC_uiRe8PRUbeTN&sig=AHIEtbQInxZL4GJFCHGcrgJQERXZ2si80w, accessed 14 Dec 2010.
- ⁵⁷ "China Offers 900 Million US Dollars in Credit Loans to SCO Members," *Xinhua*, 18 Jun 2004, http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/2004-06/18/content_1532560.htm, accessed 14 Dec 2010; "China to Offer \$900m Loan for SCO Member States," *Xinhua*, 30 May 2006,
- http://english.scosummit2006.org/headlines/2006-05/30/content_425.htm, accessed 14 Dec 2010.
- 58 Ashurmatov, Dilshod, "Big Reserve for Big Projects," *Uzbekistan Today*, 16 Nov 2007,
- http://www.ut.uz/eng/business/big_reserve_for_big_projects.mgr, accessed 22 Dec 2010.
- ⁵⁹ Bekmagambetov, M.M., "Using Transit Transportation Potential of Central Asian Countries: Challenges and Opportunities," 18th OSCE Economic and Environmental Forum, 1-2 February 2010, http://www.osce.org/eea/41311, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ⁶⁰ Embassy of Uzbekistan, "Shanghai Cooperation Organization: Prospects of Economic Development," 10 Mar 2010, http://uzbekistan.org/news/archive/775/?print=1, accessed 17 Dec 2010.
- ⁶¹ CAREC Newsletter, "UNESCAP and ADB Assistance for SCO to Support Preparation of a Regional Transport Agreement," April 2005, http://www.adb.org/Documents/Periodicals/CAREC/newsletter-apr2005.pdf, accessed 17 Dec 2010; and UNESCAP Summary of Committee on Transport, 12 Oct 2010, http://www.unescap.org/ttdw/ct2010/English/CTR2_INF4.pdf, accessed 17 Dec 2010.
- ⁶² National Intelligence Council and EU Institute of Security Studies, <u>Global Governance 2025</u>: <u>At A Critical Juncture</u>, September 2010, <u>http://www.dni.gov/nic/PDF_2025/2025_Global_Governance.pdf</u>, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ⁶³ Government of Pakistan, "Masood Khan Appeals to SCO to Help Pakistan with Flood Relief," Press Release No. 58, 4 September 2010, http://www.pid.gov.pk/press04-09-2010.htm, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁶⁴ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Chronicle of Main Events at SCO in 2008," 31 December 2008, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=66, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ⁶⁵ People's Republic of China White Paper, gov.cn web portal, "China's Actions for Disaster Prevention and Reduction," 11 May 2009, http://www.gov.cn/english/official/2009-05/11/content_1310629_7.htm, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ⁶⁶ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Meeting of the SCO Ministers of Emergency Situations," 5 June 2009, http://infoshos.ru/en/?idn=4347, accessed 9 Feb 2011.
- ⁶⁷ Kelley, Judith, "The More the Merrier? The Effects of Having Multiple International Election Monitoring Organizations," *Perspectives on Politics*, Vol. 7, No.1, Mar 2009,
- http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstract?fromPage=online&aid=3998560&fulltextType=B T&fileId=S1537592709090094, accessed 21 Jan 2011.
- ⁶⁸ Roberts, Sean, Testimony before the Helsinki Commission, United States Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe, 26 Sep 2006,
- http://www.csce.gov/index.cfm?Fuseaction=ContentRecords.ViewDetail&ContentRecord_id=381&Region_id=0&Issue_id=0&ContentType=H,B&ContentRecordType=H&CFID=23548910&CFTOKEN=95881001, accessed 21 Jan 2011.
- ⁶⁹ Kapila, Subhash, "Shanghai Cooperation Organization Heading Toward Strategic Redundancy?" eurasiareview.com, 12 Oct 2010, http://www.eurasiareview.com/201010129037/shanghai-cooperation-organization-heading-toward-strategic-redundancy.html, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ⁷⁰ Swanstrom, Niklas, "Shanghai Cooperation Organization and the Aftermath of the Russian Invasion of Georgia," *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 6, No. 3, 2008,
- http://www.chinaeurasia.org/images/stories/isdp-cefq/CEFQ200808/scoarg2008083-7.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010; and Niklas Swanstrom, "Georgia: The Split That Split the SCO," *CACI Analyst*, 3 Sep 2008, http://www.cacianalyst.org/?q=node/4930, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ⁷¹ Tkacik, Jr., John, "Olympic Invasion: China, the Shanghai Cooperation Organization and Russia's Aggression," *Heritage Foundation*, 4 Sep 2008,
- http://www.heritage.org/research/reports/2008/09/olympic-invasion-china-the-shanghai-cooperation-organization-and-russias-aggression, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

- ⁷² Weitz, Richard, "What's Happened to the SCO?" *The Diplomat*, 17 May 2010, http://the-diplomat.com/2010/05/17/what's-happened-to-the-sco/, accessed 27 Nov 2010.
- ⁷³ Kapila, Subhash, "Shanghai Cooperation Organization Heading Toward Strategic Redundancy?" eurasiareview.com, 12 Oct 2010, http://www.eurasiareview.com/201010129037/shanghai-cooperation-organization-heading-toward-strategic-redundancy.html, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ⁷⁴ Lo, Bobo, <u>Axis of Convenience: Moscow, Beijing, and the New Geopolitics</u>, Chatham House/Brookings Institution, 2008.
- ⁷⁵ "Tensions Rising Between Bishkek and Tashkent, Border Sector Closed," *AsiaNews.it*, 11 March 2010, http://www.asianews.it/news-en/Tensions-rising-between-Bishkek-and-Tashkent,-border-sector-closed-17859.html, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁷⁶ Lillis, Joanna, "Kazakhstan: OSCE Summit Exposes Central Asian Rifts," *EurasiaNet.org*, 9 Dec 2010, http://www.eurasianet.org/node/62539, accessed 17 Dec 2010; and Konstantin Parshin, "Uzbekistan vs. Tajikistan: Competition Over Water Resources Intensifying," *EurasiaNet.org*, 8 Dec 2010, http://www.eurasianet.org/node/62528, accessed 17 Dec 2010.
- ⁷⁷ Rogers, Stan, "Tajik Rail Cars to be Released," *Central Asia Online*, 14 June 2010, http://www.centralasiaonline.com/cocoon/caii/xhtml/en_GB/newsbriefs/caii/newsbriefs/2010/06/1 4/newsbrief-01, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁷⁸ "In-take Tunnel Run-Through of Kazakhstan Moinak Hydro Power Station Project," China International Water and Electric Corporation, 24 September 2010,

http://219.237.219.18/show.aspx?id=122&cid=7, accessed 24 May 2011.

- ⁷⁹ Permanent Mission of the Republic of Kazakhstan to the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, "Kazakhstan to Hold SCO Day in 2011 Evaluating Organisation's Role," Issue #110, 28 Nov 2010, www.kazakhstan-osce.org/content/issue-110-26-november-2010, accessed 15 Dec 2010.
- ⁸⁰ St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
- http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june_5_cooperation_sco_en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
- 81 Kolchin, Sergei, "Russia Initiates SCO Energy Club," RiaNovosti, 21 Jun 2006,

http://en.rian.ru/analysis/20060621/49855458.html, accessed 22 Dec 2010.

- ⁸² St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, "SCO as the Space of Economic Cooperation and Counteraction to Global Crisis," 6 Jun 2009,
- http://www.forumspb.com/upfile/file2/june_5_cooperation_sco_en.pdf, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
- ⁸³ Konyrova, Kulpash, "Shanghai Cooperation Organization Mulls Energy Club Creation," *ISRIA*, 20-26 March 2011, http://www.isria.com/pages/21_March_2011_253.php, accessed 29 Mar 11.
- ⁸⁴ Linn, Johannes and Oksana Pidufala, "The Experience with Regional Economic Cooperation Organizations: Lessons for Central Asia," *Wolfensohn Center for Development Working Paper No. 5*, Brookings Institution, October 2008,
- http://www.brookings.edu/papers/2008/10_carec_integration_linn.aspx, accessed 24 Jan 2011.
- ⁸⁵ Zhao, Yidi, "China Proposed \$10 Billion Regional Bank, 21st Says," *Bloomberg News*, 1 December 2010, http://www.businessweek.com/news/2010-12-01/china-proposes-10-billion-regional-bank-21st-says.html, accessed 12 Feb 2011.
- ⁸⁶ Lo, Bobo, <u>Axis of Convenience: Moscow, Beijing, and the New Geopolitics</u>, Chatham House/Brookings Institution, 2008.
- ⁸⁷ Olson, Mancur, <u>The Logic of Collective Action: Public Goods and the Theory of Groups</u>, Harvard University Press, 1971,
- http://books.google.com/books?id=jzTeOLtf7_wC&printsec=frontcover&dq=frontcover#v=onepage&q &f=false, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ⁸⁸ Lo, Bobo, <u>Axis of Convenience: Moscow, Beijing, and the New Geopolitics</u>, Chatham House/Brookings Institution, 2008
- 89 Radyuhin, Vladimir, "Afghanistan May Join SCO," The Hindu, 15 May 2011,
- http://www.thehindu.com/news/international/article2021578.ece, accessed 24 May 2011.

- ⁹⁰ "India Keen to Become Member of SCO," *The Times of India*, 1 June 2010, http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/India-keen-to-become-member-of-SCO/articleshow/5995619.cms, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹¹ Guangjin, Cheng and Yang Xue, "SCO Appraises Membership of Iran, Pakistan," *China Daily*, 4 February 2010, http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/world/2010-02/04/content_9425076.htm, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹² Linn, Johannes and Oksana Pidufala, "The Experience with Regional Economic Cooperation Organizations: Lessons for Central Asia," *Wolfensohn Center for Development Working Paper No. 5*, Brookings Institution, October 2008,
- http://www.brookings.edu/papers/2008/10_carec_integration_linn.aspx, accessed 24 Jan 2011.
- ⁹³ Dorjjugder, Munkh-Ochir, "Same Rules, New Dimensions for Mongolia's National Security: Adapting to the New Geo-economic Environment," Brookings Institution, Northeast Asia Commentary, Number 32, October 2009, http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2009/10_mongolia_dorjjugder.aspx, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁴ "Mongolia and SCO Boost Cooperation," *montsame.mn*, 24 January 2010, http://www.montsame.mn/index.php?option=com_news&task=news_detail&tab=201001&ne=1251, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁵ "SCO Summit: Pakistan Eyes Full Member Status," *Voice of Karachi*, 25 November 2010, http://voiceofkarachi.blogspot.com/2010/11/sco-summit-pakistan-eyes-full-member.html, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁶ Blagov, Sergei, "Russia, CSTO Struggle to Settle Kyrgyz Unrest," *Eurasia Daily Monitor*, Volume 7, Issue 124, 28 June 2010,
- http://www.jamestown.org/single/?no_cache=1&tx_ttnews%5Bswords%5D=8fd5893941d69d0be3f378576261ae3e&tx_ttnews%5Ball_the_words%5D=China%20and%20Kyrgyz&tx_ttnews%5Btt_news%5D=36539&tx_ttnews%5BbackPid%5D=7&cHash=71bf52efba, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁷ "Iran's SCO Membership to be Beneficial," <u>presstv.ir</u>, 24 November 2010, http://www.presstv.ir/detail/152492.html, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁸ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Joint Communique of the Tenth Meeting of the Council of the Heads of Member States," 11 June 2010, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=223, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ⁹⁹ Krans, Maxim, "SCO Energy Club: What Will It be Like?", *infoshos.ru*, 28 October 2009, http://infoshos.ru/en/?idn=5040, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁰⁰ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Speech of the SCO Secretary-General B. Nurgaliev at the Economic Conference Under the Auspices of the SCO Business Council and Interbank Consortium, 6 May 2009, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=82, accessed 10 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁰¹ Pushpanathan, S., "ASEAN's Strategy Towards Its Dialogue Partners and ASEAN Plus Three Process,"
 3-4 November 2003, aseansec.org, http://www.aseansec.org/15397.htm, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁰² ASEAN website, "Linkages Outside the Region," aseansec.org, http://www.aseansec.org/11849.htm, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁰³ Shanghai Cooperation Organization website, "Regulations on the Status of Dialogue Partner of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization," 28 August 2008, http://www.sectsco.org/EN/show.asp?id=64, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- 104 Radyuhin, Vladimir, "Afghanistan May Join SCO," The Hindu, 15 May 2011,
- http://www.thehindu.com/news/international/article2021578.ece, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ¹⁰⁵ National Intelligence Council and EU Institute of Security Studies, <u>Global Governance 2025</u>: <u>At A Critical Juncture</u>, <u>September 2010</u>, <u>http://www.dni.gov/nic/PDF_2025/2025_Global_Governance.pdf</u>, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁰⁶ Bouzas, Roberto, "Mercosur Ten Years After: Learning Process or Deja-Vu?", FLACSO/Argentina, netamericas.net, http://www.netamericas.net/researchpapers/documents/bouzas/Bouzas2.pdf, accessed 11 Feb 2011.

```
<sup>107</sup> Laporte, Geert and James Mackie (edited by), "Building the African Union: An Assessment of Past Progress and Future Prospects of the African Union's Institutional Architecture," European Centre for Development Policy Management (ECDPM) Report No. 18, October 2010,
```

http://www.ecdpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Download.nsf/0/4F9626B34E545625C12577BA0 044621A/\$FILE/PMR_18_UK.pdf, accessed 11 Feb 2011.

¹⁰⁸ ASEAN website, "Political Achievement," http://www.aseansec.org/11833.htm, accessed 2 Mar 2011. ¹⁰⁹ Bailes, Alyson J.K., Vladimir Baranovsky, and Pal Dunay, "Regional Security Cooperation in the

http://www.sipri.org/yearbook/2007/files/SIPRIYB0704.pdf, accessed 2 Mar 2011.

Former Soviet Area," SIPRI Yearbook 2007,

¹¹⁰ Burghart, Dan, "The New Nomads? The American Military Presence in Central Asia," *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 5, No. 2, 2007,

http://www.silkroadstudies.org/new/docs/CEF/Quarterly/May_2007/Burghart.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹¹¹ Jones, Beth, Assistant Secretary of State for European and Eurasian Affairs on U.S. Relations with Central Asia, On-the-record briefing, 11 Feb 2002,

http://www.globalsecurity.org/military/library/news/2002/02/mil-020211-usia06.htm, accessed 21 Jan 2011.

¹¹² U.S. House of Representatives, Committee on International Relations, Subcommittee on the Middle East and Central Asia, "Uzbekistan: The Key to Success in Central Asia?", 15 June 2004,

http://commdocs.house.gov/committees/intlrel/hfa94278.000/hfa94278_0f.htm, accessed 2 Mar 2011.

113 Bhadrakumar, M.K., "Russia Regains Lost Ground," Asia Times, 15 Sep 2005,

http://www.atimes.com/atimes/Central_Asia/GI15Ag01.html, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

114 "Q&A: U.S. Military Bases in Central Asia," New York Times, 26 Jul 2005,

http://www.nytimes.com/cfr/international/slot2_072605.html, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹¹⁵ Rumer, Eugene, "The U.S. Interests and Role in Central Asia after K2," *The Washington Quarterly*, Summer 2006, http://www.twq.com/06summer/docs/06summer_rumer.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹¹⁶ Jones, Beth, "Putting US-Kazakhstani Relations to Work," Remarks of former U.S. Ambassador to Kazakhstan Beth Jones at the Ablay Khan University of International Relations and World Languages, 29 Sep 2006, http://kazakhstan.usembassy.gov/beth_jones.html, accessed 10 Dec 2010.

¹¹⁷ Nichol, Jim, "Kyrgyzstan and the Status of the U.S. Manas Airbase: Context and Implications," *Congressional Research Service*, 1 July 2009, http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R40564.pdf, accessed 2 Feb 2011.

118 "US to Attend Shanghai Group Meeting on Afghanistan," VOANews.com, 19 Mar 2009, http://www.voanews.com/english/news/a-13-2009-03-19-voa51-68772882.html, accessed 21 Dec 2010; and Cohen, Ariel, "What to Do About the Shanghai Cooperation Organization's Rising Influence," EurasiaNet.org, 20 Sep 2006, http://www.eurasianet.org/departments/insight/articles/eav092106.shtml, accessed 21 Dec 2010; and Hiro, Dilip, "Shanghai Surprise," Guardian.co.uk, 16 Jun 2006,

http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2006/jun/16/shanghaisurprise/print, accessed 21 Dec 2010; and Bhadrakumar, M. K., "China, Russia Welcome Iran Into the Fold," *Asia Times*, 18 Apr 2006, http://www.atimes.com/atimes/China/HD18Ad02.html, accessed 21 Dec 2010

¹¹⁹ Boucher, Richard, Testimony of Assistant Secretary of State for South and Central Asian Affairs, U.S. Department of State, before the U.S. Helsinki Commission, 26 Sep 2006,

http://www.csce.gov/index.cfm?Fuseaction=ContentRecords.ViewDetail&ContentRecord_id=381&Region_id=0&Issue_id=0&ContentType=H,B&ContentRecordType=H&CFID=23548910&CFTOKEN=95881001_, accessed 21 Jan 2011.

¹²⁰ Remarks by Evan Feigenbaum, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization and the Future of Central Asia," Delivered to the Nixon Center, 6 Nov 2007, http://dushanbe.usembassy.gov/sp_09062007.html, accessed 21 Dec 2010.

¹²¹ Nichol, Jim, "The April 2010 Coup in Kyrgyzstan and Its Aftermath: Context and Implications for U.S. Interests," *Congressional Research Service*, 15 Jun 2010, http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R41178.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

- ¹²² Schwirtz, Michael and Clifford Levy, "In Reversal, Kyrgyzstan Won't Close a U.S. Base," *New York Times*, 23 June 2009,
- http://www.nytimes.com/2009/06/24/world/asia/24base.html?_r=1&ref=transitcenteratmanaskyrgyzstan, accessed 2 Feb 2011.
- ¹²³ de Carbonnel, Alissa, "Experts: Role of Manas Spurs Kyrgyz Chaos," *USA Today*, 13 Apr 2010, http://www.airforcetimes.com/news/2010/04/gns_airforce_manas_kyrgyzstan_041310/, accessed 26 Nov 2010
- ¹²⁴ Orange, Richard, "Kyrgyzstan Urges U.S. to Cancel Fuel Contract for Manas," *Central Asia Newswire*, 8 Nov 2010, http://centralasianewswire.com/Energy/Kyrgyzstan-urges-US-to-cancel-fuel-contract-for-Manas/viewstory.aspx?id=2274, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹²⁵ Khan, Simbal, "Stabilization of Afghanistan: U.S. NATO Regional Strategy and the Role of the SCO," *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 7, No. 3, 2009,
- http://www.chinaeurasia.org/images/stories/isdp-cefq/CEFQ200910/cefq7.3sk11-15.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹²⁶ "Joint Statement by President Obama and President Medvedev," *America.gov*, 1 April 2009, http://www.america.gov/st/texttrans-english/2009/April/20090401125216xjsnommis0.8078381.html, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹²⁷ U.S. Department of State, "Joint Statement of the United States of America Barack Obama and the Russian Federation D.A. Medvedev Concerning Afghanistan," 6 July 2009,
- http://www.state.gov/p/eur/rls/wh/125657.htm, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹²⁸ Clinton, Hillary Rodham, "Remarks on Regional Architecture in Asia: Principles and Priorities," Hawaii, Department of State, 12 January 2010,
- http://www.state.gov/secretary/rm/2010/01/135090.htm, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹²⁹ Embassy of the United States, Beijing, China, "Assistant Secretary Robert O. Blake's Media Roundtable in China," 18 March 2011, http://beijing.usembassy-china.org.cn/032111media.html, accessed 19 Mar 2011.
- ¹³⁰ Cooley, Alexander, "Cooperation Gets Shanghaied: China, Russia, and the SCO," Foreign Affairs, 14 December 2009, http://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/65724/alexander-cooley/cooperation-gets-shanghaied?page=show, accessed 12 Feb 2011.
- ¹³¹ Chin, Gregory, "China's Rising Institutional Influence," in Alan Alexandroff and Andrew Cooper, Rising States, Rising Institutions: Challenges for Global Governance, 2010,
- http://books.google.com/books?id=LXb6bjqdzlMC&pg=PA83&lpg=PA83&dq=chin+gregory+china's+ri sing+institutional+influence&source=bl&ots=JhzHN1uXW8&sig=h2yAaaVK7hLFJgdlNx6Vz3AL8Eo&hl =en&ei=l_hATbmRBM73gAeLs6mHAw&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=1&ved=0CBMQ6AE wAA#v=onepage&q=chin%20gregory%20china's%20rising%20institutional%20influence&f=false.
- ¹³² Lobjakas, Ahto, "EU: German Presidency's Focus on Central Asia, Black Sea, Russia," *Radio Free Europe / Radio Liberty*, 19 December 2006, http://www.rferl.org/content/article/1073562.html, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹³³ de Haas, Marcel, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization and the OSCE: Two of a Kind?" Helsinki Monitor: Security and Human Rights, No. 3, 2007,
- http://www.clingendael.nl/publications/2007/20071100_cscp_art_haas.pdf, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹³⁴ OSCE website, "The Bucharest Plan of Action for Combating Terrorism," 4 December 2001, http://www.osce.org/atu/42524, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹³⁵ Lee, Sonya, "Kazakh Chairmanship Sets Sights High," *OSCE Magazine*, January 2010, http://www.osce.org/secretariat/67469, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹³⁶ European Union website, "European Union and Central Asia: Strategy for a New Partnership," http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/librairie/PDF/EU_CtrlAsia_EN-RU.pdf, accessed 11 Feb 2011.
- ¹³⁷ Council of the European Union, "Joint Progress Report on the Implementation of the EU Strategy for Central Asia," 28 June 2010, http://register.consilium.europa.eu/pdf/en/10/st11/st11402.en10.pdf, accessed 11 Feb 2011.

¹³⁸ Hu, Richard Weixing, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation: A New Regional Kid on the Block?," European Policy Centre, 18 February 2008,

http://www.epc.eu/prog_details.php?cat_id=6&pub_id=880&prog_id=3, accessed 11 Feb 2011.

139 Weitz, Richard, "Building a NATO-SCO Dialogue," European Dialogue, 14 March 2011,

http://eurodialogue.org/Building-a-NATO-SCO-dialogue, accessed 24 May 2011.

¹⁴⁰ Brzezinski, Zbigniew, "An Agenda for NATO," *Foreign Affairs*, Sep/Oct 2009, http://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/65240/zbigniew-brzezinski/an-agenda-for-nato, accessed 25 Nov 2010.

- ¹⁴¹ NATO Partnerships for Peace official website, updated 13 Apr 2010, http://www.nato.int/pfp/sig-cntr.htm, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁴² Antonenko, Oksana and Igor Yurgens, "Next, a NATO-Russia Strategic Concept," *New York Times*, 18 Nov 2010, http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/19/opinion/19iht-edantonenko.html, accessed 22 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁴³ NATO official website, "Strategic Concept for the Defence and Security of the Members of the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation," November 2010, http://www.nato.int/lisbon2010/strategic-concept-2010-eng.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁴⁴ ASEAN Regional Forum official website,

http://www.aseanregionalforum.org/AboutUs/tabid/57/Default.aspx, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹⁴⁵ Schearf, Daniel, "North Korea Tensions Overshadow Regional Forum," *VOANews.com*, 21 July 2010, http://www.voanews.com/english/news/North-Korea-Tensions-Overshadow-Regional-Forum-98933094.html, accessed 11 Feb 2011.

¹⁴⁶ ASEAN Regional Forum official website,

http://www.aseanregionalforum.org/AboutUs/ARFAchievements/tabid/130/Default.aspx, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

¹⁴⁷ "Building Institutional Coherence in Asia's Security Architecture: The Role of ASEAN," Conference Report, RSIS-MacArthur Conference on Regional Security Cooperation, 19-20 July 2010,

http://www.rsis.edu.sg/publications/conference_reports/RSIS-MacArthor%20book.pdf, accessed 24 May 2011.

- ¹⁴⁸ deGategno, Patrick, "America's Renewed Engagement of Asia," newatlanticist.com, 12 Nov 2010,
 http://www.acus.org/new_atlanticist/americas-renewed-engagement-asia, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
 ¹⁴⁹ International Crisis Group, "Tajikistan: The Changing Insurgent Threats," Asia Report No. 205, 24 May 2011, <a href="http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/asia/central-asia/tajikistan/205%20Tajikistan%20-%20The%20Changing%20Insurgent%20Threats.ashx, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ¹⁵⁰ Rosenberg, Matthew and Julian Barnes, "Al-Qaeda Makes Afghan Comeback," *Wall Street Journal*, 6 Apr 2011, http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748704355304576215762431072584.html, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ¹⁵¹ Zakaria, Fareed, "A 'Hedge' Strategy Toward China," *Washington Post*, 15 Nov 2010, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/11/14/AR2010111403883.html, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁵² Lavrov, Sergey, "In the Same Boat," Itogi, 15 Nov 2010,

http://www.mid.ru/brp_4.nsf/0/EBC5C2D512C49D9BC32577DD0036DF47, accessed 25 Nov 2010; and Brzezinski, Zbigniew, "An Agenda for NATO," *Foreign Affairs*, Sep/Oct 2009,

<u>http://w</u>ww.foreignaffairs.com/articles/65240/zbigniew-brzezinski/an-agenda-for-nato, accessed 25 Nov 2010.

- ¹⁵³ Hiatt, Fred, "On Afghanistan, Obama Shifts Away From July 2011," *Washington Post*, 15 Nov 2010, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/11/14/AR2010111403885.html, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁵⁴ Council on Foreign Relations, <u>Independent Task Force Report No. 65</u>, "U.S. Strategy for Pakistan and Afghanistan," November 2010,

http://www.cfr.org/publication/23253/us_strategy_for_pakistan_and_afghanistan.html?utm_medium=email&utm_source=MyNewsletterBuilder&utm_content=68895381&utm_campaign=The+World+This+

Week+-+NATO+Summit++Congressional+Dysfunction-

- +Obamas+Asia+Tour++more+1410617590&utm_term=Task+Force+Report, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁵⁵ Trenin, Dmitri, and Alexey Malashenko, "Afghanistan: A View from Moscow," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2010, http://www.carnegieendowment.org/files/trenin_afghan_final.pdf, accessed 17 Dec 2010.
- ¹⁵⁶ U.S. Department of State, "Background Note: Tajikistan," 22 Sep 2010,

http://www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/5775.htm, accessed 21 Nov 2010.

¹⁵⁷ CIA, The World Factbook: Kyrgyzstan, updated 9 Nov 2010,

https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/kg.html, accessed 26 Nov 2010.

- ¹⁵⁸ "Myers, Steven Lee, "Kyrgyzstan: Resignation Official; Vote is Set," *New York Times*, 12 Apr 2005, http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9D05EEDA123EF931A25757C0A9639C8B63&ref=askarakayev, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁵⁹ U.S. Department of State, "Robert O. Blake, Testimony Before the Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe," 11 May 2011, http://www.state.gov/p/sca/rls/rmks/2011/163304.htm, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ¹⁶⁰ U.S. Air Force, USCENTCOM, "Transit Center at Manas Fact Sheet," current as of Jul 2010, http://www.manas.afcent.af.mil/library/factsheets/factsheet.asp?id=12682, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁶¹ Kucera, Joshua, "Central Asia: Washington to Expand Traffic on Northern Supply Route," eurasianet.org, 18 Nov 2010, http://www.eurasianet.org/node/62402, accessed 21 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁶² Hagel, Chuck, Damon Wilson, and Ross Wilson, "Astana on the Atlantic: Transatlantic Strategy in Central Asia and the OSCE," Atlantic Council, Eurasia Task Force, November 2010,
- http://www.acus.org/files/publication_pdfs/403/112210_ACUS_AstanaAtlantic.pdf, accessed 10 Dec 2010.
- ¹⁶³ Ball, Susan, "Democracy and Human Rights: Rethinking U.S. Foreign Policy," *New Atlanticist*, 1 March 2011, <a href="http://www.acus.org/new_atlanticist/democracy-and-human-rights-rethinking-us-foreign-policy?utm_source=feedburner&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=Feed%3A+new_atlanticist+%28N ew+Atlanticist%29, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁶⁴ Human Rights in China, <u>Counter-Terrorism and Human Rights: The Impact of the Shanghai</u> <u>Cooperation Organization</u>, Mar 2011, <u>http://www.hrichina.org/research-and-publications/reports/sco</u>, accessed 24 May 2011.
- ¹⁶⁵ STRATFOR Global Intelligence, "Washington and the Evolution of the East Asia Summit," 28 October 2010, http://www.stratfor.com/analysis/20101028_washington_and_evolution_east_asia_summit, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁶⁶ Emmerson, Donald K., "Obama's Trip, China's Role, Asia's Summits," *Asia Times online*, 10 November 2010, http://www.atimes.com/atimes/Southeast_Asia/LK10Ae01.html, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁶⁷ European Union website, "EU-US Facts and Figures," 18 November 2010,
- http://www.eurunion.org/eu/EU-US-Relations/EU-US-Facts-Figures.html, accessed 29 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁶⁸ Germanovich, Gene, "The Shanghai Cooperation Organization: A Threat to American Interests in Central Asia?" *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, Volume 6, No. 1, 2008,
- http://www.chinaeurasia.org/images/stories/isdp-cefq/CEFQ200802/scotaia20080219-38.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁶⁹ Deudney, Daniel and G. John Ikenberry, "The Myth of the Autocratic Revival, Why Liberal Democracy Will Prevail," *Foreign Affairs*, Volume 88, No. 1, Jan/Feb 2009,
- http://www.scribd.com/doc/24293969/The-Myth-of-the-Autocratic-Revival-Why-Liberal-Democracy-Will-Prevail, accessed 27 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁷⁰ Gates, Robert, Speech at Sophia University, Tokyo, 9 Nov 2007,
- http://www.defense.gov/speeches/speech.aspx?speechid=1192, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁷¹ Chicago Council on Global Affairs, "Global Views 2010, Constrained Internationalism: Adapting to New Realities," Sep 2010, http://www.thechicagocouncil.org/curr_pos.php, accessed 14 Dec 2010.

- ¹⁷² Masuda, Masayuki, "China's SCO Policy in the Regional Security Architecture," The Tokyo Foundation, 21 December 2010, http://www.tokyofoundation.org/en/articles/2010/china2019s-sco-policy, accessed 27 Jan 2011.
- ¹⁷³ Campbell, Kurt, Nirav Patel, and Vikram Singh, <u>The Power of Balance: America in iAsia</u>, Jun 2008, http://www.cnas.org/files/documents/publications/CampbellPatelSingh_iAsia_June08.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁷⁴ Steinberg, James, "Policy Challenges and Opportunities for the United States in Asia," 2010 Asia Policy Assembly Keynote Address, 17 Jun 2010, http://www.nbr.org/research/activity.aspx?id=86, accessed 27 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁷⁵ Embassy of the United States, Beijing, China, "Assistant Secretary Robert O. Blake's Media Roundtable in Beijing," 18 March 2011, http://beijing.usembassy-china.org.cn/032111media.html, accessed 29 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁷⁶ U.S. Department of State, <u>Foreign Affairs Manual</u>, Vol. 1--Organization and Functions, Bureau of International Organization Affairs, 1 FAM 333.11, 2 November 2009,

http://docs.google.com/viewer?a=v&q=cache:Q81A-

oaCrgQJ:www.state.gov/documents/organization/84187.pdf+/search%3Fhl%3Den%26client%3Dsafari %26rls%3Den%26q%3D%2Bsite:state.gov%2Bstate%2Bdepartment%2Bpolicy%2Bregional%2Bfunctional %2Borganizations&hl=en&gl=us&pid=bl&srcid=ADGEESiJ80JZMfvBl0hGII7HkNxPsgI5kEnmMvI-qLI8HQGAy2ugusYW0FmOxUCvK-NzEDiuFHq_KAUKUBXz-

<u>8HBfyRH96LNRI4sz5hZnbNCc5Y7CpOWWY6pOzWLLFHspY_fDtFlukMT&sig=AHIEtbQHd_KchBY9</u> WWUZBpHyRXTfdMZIbA, accessed 14 Feb 2011.

- ¹⁷⁷ Brimmer, Esther, "The Role and Relevance of Multilateral Diplomacy in U.S. Foreign Policy," 11 January 2011, http://www.state.gov/p/io/rm/2011/154627.htm, accessed 14 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁷⁸ U.S. Department of State, "Leading Through Civilian Power: The First Quadrennial Diplomacy and Development Review (QDDR)," 2010, http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/153142.pdf, accessed 14 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁷⁹ U.S. Department of Defense, "Command Structure,"
- http://www.defense.gov/specials/unifiedcommand/, accessed 14 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁸⁰ U.S. Department of Defense, "The Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy," http://policy.defense.gov/, accessed 14 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁸¹ Zambelis, Chris, "Turkey Sacrifices Uighurs to Trade," *Asia Times Online*, 18 Jan 2011, http://www.atimes.com/atimes/China/MA19Ad02.html, accessed 18 Jan 2011.
- ¹⁸² Partnership for Peace website, "Steppe Eagle-2010 Exercise," 23 August 2010,
- http://www.pims.org/news/2010/08/23/steppe-eagle-2010-exercise, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁸³ Partnership for Peace website, "NATO's Relations with the Kyrgyz Republic," 15 November 2010, http://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics_49607.htm, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- 184 Partnership for Peace website, "NATO's Relations with Uzbekistan," 10 December 2010,
- http://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics_22839.htm, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁸⁵ Partnership for Peace website, "NATO's Relations with Tajikistan," 10 December 2010,
- http://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics_50312.htm, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- 186 Partnership for Peace website, "NATO's Relations with Russia," 4 February 2011,
- http://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics_50090.htm, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁸⁷ Kucera, Joshua, "Russians Make First-Ever Visit to Manas," *EurasiaNet.org*, 16 February 2011, http://www.eurasianet.org/node/62912, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁸⁸ Manas Transit Center website, "Ambassadors from Different Countries Tour Transit Center," Manas.afcent, 21 September 2010, http://www.manas.afcent.af.mil/news/story.asp?id=123222933, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ¹⁸⁹ U.S. Department of State, "President Obama's Afghanistan-Pakistan (AfPak) Strategy," FPC Briefing, 27 March 2009, http://fpc.state.gov/120965.htm, accessed 15 Feb 2011.
- ¹⁹⁰ Testimony of David Sedney, Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for Afghanistan, Pakistan, and Central Asia, and BG Michael Shields, Deputy Director, Operations and Requirements, Joint Improvised

Explosive Device Defeat Organization, "Jamming the IED Assembly Line: Impeding the Flow of Ammonium Nitrate in South and Central Asia," Senate Foreign Relations Committee, Subcommittee on Near Eastern and South and Central Asian Affairs, U.S. Senate, 18 Nov 2010,

http://foreign.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Sedney%20and%20Shields.pdf.

- ¹⁹¹ Landler, Mark, "U.S. Tries to End Flow of Bomb Item to Afghanistan," *New York Times*, 14 Nov 2010, http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/15/world/asia/15chemical.html, accessed 18 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹² Rubin, Alissa, "Karzai Protests Russian Agents in Drug Raid," *New York Times*, 30 Oct 2010, http://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/31/world/asia/31afghan.html?_r=2&ref=world, accessed 21 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹³ Partlow, Joshua, "Karzai Criticizes Drug Bust," *Washington Post*, 31 Oct 2010, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2010/10/30/AR2010103003675.html, accessed 21 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹⁴ U.S. Department of State, "International Narcotics Control Strategy Report," Volume I (Russia Country Report), Mar 2008, http://moscow.usembassy.gov/incsr2008.html, accessed 25 Nov 2010.
 ¹⁹⁵ U.S. Department of State, "International Narcotics Control Strategy Report," Volume I, (Russia Country Report), Mar 2010, http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/137411.pdf, accessed 21 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹⁶Council on Foreign Relations, <u>Independent Task Force Report No. 65</u>, "U.S. Strategy for Pakistan and Afghanistan," November 2010,
- http://www.cfr.org/publication/23253/us_strategy_for_pakistan_and_afghanistan.html?utm_medium=email&utm_source=MyNewsletterBuilder&utm_content=68895381&utm_campaign=The+World+This+Week+-+NATO+Summit++Congressional+Dysfunction-
- +Obamas+Asia+Tour++more+1410617590&utm_term=Task+Force+Report, accessed 19 Nov 2010.

 197Somerville, Heather, "Will Chinese Mining Venture Bring Wealth or Heartbreak to Afghanistan," politicsdaily.com, 31 Aug 2010, http://www.politicsdaily.com/2010/08/29/mary-growing-fears-china-will-bring-heartbreak-not-wealth/, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹⁸ Huq, Aziz, "Chinese Takeout," foreignpolicy.com, 15 Jun 2010,
- http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2010/06/15/chinese_takeout, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ¹⁹⁹ Monk, Ashby, "How to Safeguard Afghanistan's Mineral Riches," foreignpolicy.com, 3 Aug 2010, http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2010/08/03/how_to_safeguard_afghanistans_mineral_riches, accessed 19 Nov 2010.
- ²⁰⁰ U.S. Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations, "Avoiding Water Wars: Water Scarcity and Central Asia's Growing Importance for Stability in Afghanistan and Pakistan," 22 February 2011, http://foreign.senate.gov/press/chair/release/?id=0b32e452-9c4c-4417-82ee-d201bcefc8ae, accessed 2 Mar 2011.
- ²⁰¹ Starr, S. Frederick, "Afghanistan Beyond the Fog of Nation Building: Giving Economic Strategy a Chance," *Central Asia-Caucasus Institute*, Silk Road Studies Program, January 2011,
- http://www.silkroadstudies.org/new/docs/silkroadpapers/1101Afghanistan-Starr.pdf, accessed 21 Jan 2011.
- ²⁰² U.S. Department of State, Remarks by Assistant Secretary of State Robert Blake for South and Central Asian Affairs, Center for Strategic and International Studies Institute for New Democracies Roundtable, "OSCE Summit and Central Asia," 17 December 2010,
- http://www.state.gov/p/sca/rls/rmks/2010/153131.htm, accessed 2 Feb 2011.
- ²⁰³ Rojansky, Matthew, <u>Indispensable Institutions: The Obama-Medvedev Commission and Five Decades of U.S.-Russia Dialogue</u>, 2010, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace,
- http://carnegieendowment.org/files/indispensable_institutions.pdf, accessed 26 Nov 2010.
- ²⁰⁴ See Mandelbaum, Michael, <u>The Frugal Superpower: America's Global Leadership in a Cash-Strapped Era</u>, p. 108, 2010, Public Affairs/Perseus Books Group; or Parag Khanna, <u>The Second World: Empires and Influence in the New Global Order</u>, p. 110, 2008, Random House.